

# TURKISH REPUBLIC OF NORTH CYPRUS NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY HEALTH SCIENCES INSTITUTE

# INVESTIGATION OF STAPHYLOCOCCAL α-HEMOLYSIN AND EXFOLIATIVE TOXIN A IN METHICILLIN-RESISTANT STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS CLINICAL ISOLATES AT NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL

TCHAMOU MALRAUX FLEURY POTINDJI

MASTER THESIS

MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGY DEPARTMENT

> ADVISOR ASSOC. PROF. BUKET BADDAL

> > NICOSIA, 2021

# TURKISH REPUBLIC OF NORTH CYPRUS NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY HEALTH SCIENCES INSTITUTE

# INVESTIGATION OF STAPHYLOCOCCAL α-HEMOLYSIN AND EXFOLIATIVE TOXIN A IN METHICILLIN-RESISTANT STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS CLINICAL ISOLATES AT NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL

TCHAMOU MALRAUX FLEURY POTINDJI

MASTER THESIS

MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGY DEPARTMENT

ADVISOR ASSOC. PROF. BUKET BADDAL

NICOSIA, 2021

The Directorate of Health Sciences Institute,

This study has been accepted by the Thesis Committee in Medical Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology Program as a Master of Science Thesis.

Thesis committee:

Chair:

Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Buket BADDAL, Near East University

Members:

## Approval:

According to the relevant articles of the Near East University Postgraduate study-Education and Examination Regulations, this thesis has been approved by the abovementioned members of the thesis committee and the decision of the Board of

Directors of the institute.

Professor K. Hüsnü Can BAŞER, PhD

Director of Graduate School of Health Sciences

## DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work in this thesis entitled "INVESTIGATION OF STAPHYLOCOCCAL  $\alpha$ -HEMOLYSIN AND EXFOLIATIVE TOXIN AIN METHICILLIN-RESISTANT STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS CLINICAL ISOLATES AT NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL" is the product of my own research efforts undertaken under the supervision of Assoc. Prof. Buket Baddal. No part of this thesis was previously presented for another degree or diploma in any university elsewhere, and all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic ethical conduct and rules. All materials and results that are not original to this work have been duly acknowledged, fully cited and referenced.

Name, Last Name:

Signature:

Date:

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start off thanking Dr. Buket BADDAL for all the time and dedication she put into my journey as a Master of Science student. I have learned so much under her teaching and guidance. I would also like to thank the academic staff of Near East University, Department of Medical Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology. An additional thank is addressed to the Microbiology Laboratory staff at Near East University Hospital for allowing the use of their equipment during this project. My gratitude finally goes to my family who provided me with love, support and encouragement throughout my graduate career. I could never have completed this without you, this thesis is yours.

## ABSTRACT

Tchamou Malraux Fleury Potindji. Investigation of Staphylococcal α-Hemolysin and Exfoliative Toxin A in Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* Clinical Isolates at Near East University Hospital. Near East University, Institute of Health Sciences, Medical Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology Program, M.Sc. Thesis, Nicosia, 2021

Staphylococcus aureus is a leading cause of human bacterial infection worldwide. As a member of human microbiota, individuals can be asymptomatically colonized and spread S. aureus infections to susceptible individuals. Infections caused by S. aureus can range from mild to severe conditions. The emergence and rapid spread of antibiotic resistant strains constitute a challenge that need to be timely addressed. Over the years, S. aureus has become resistant to β-lactam antibiotics, with a special regard to communityacquired methicillin-resistant S. aureus (CA-MRSA) strains which have appeared increasingly involved in nosocomial infections. The extent of an infection depends on the virulence factor associated in the pathogenesis. Indeed, S. aureus produces a large set of virulence factors involved in pathogenesis, including: Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL), super antigens, exfoliative toxins, phenol-soluble modulins and  $\alpha$ -toxin. The aim of this thesis project was to investigate the presence of  $\alpha$ -toxin and exfoliative toxin A genes in MRSA clinical isolates at Near East University Hospital. Seventy-six MRSA isolates were identified using coagulase tube test, cefoxitin disc diffusion test and nuc gene amplification by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). α-toxin gene and exfoliative toxin A gene were detected in 97.36% and 2.63% of the isolates respectively. This study demonstrates the first report to investigate hemolytic and epidermolytic toxin carriage in MRSA in Northern Cyprus and has laid the path to further comprehensive studies.

Keywords: Staphylococcus aureus, MRSA, virulence factors, α-toxin, exfoliative toxin A

## ÖZET

Tchamou Malraux Fleury Potindji. Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi Hastanesi'nde Metisilin Dirençli *Staphylococcus aureus* Klinik İzolatlarında Stafilokokal α-Hemolizin ve Eksfoliyatif Toksin A'nın Araştırılması. Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Tıbbi Mikrobiyoloji ve Klinik Mikrobiyoloji Programı, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Lefkoşa, 2021

Staphylococcus aureus, dünya çapında bakteriyel enfeksiyonların önde gelen nedenlerinden biridir. Asemptomatik bireylerin S. aureus ile kolonize olabilmesi, duyarlı kisilerde S. aureus enfeksiyonu yayılım riskini artırmaktadır. S. aureus'un neden olduğu enfeksiyonlar, hafif veya şiddetli olarak seyredebilmektedir. Antibiyotiğe dirençli suşların ortaya çıkması ve hızlı yayılımı, insan sağlığı için bir tehdit oluşturmaktadır. Son yıllarda S. aureus suşlarında görülen β-laktam direnci ile toplum-kökenli metilisin-dirençli S. aureus (MRSA) nozokomiyal enfeksiyonlarda sıklıkla görülmektedir. Enfeksiyonun seyri, patogenezle ilişkili virülans faktörüne bağlıdır. S. aureus, Panton-Valentine lökosidin (PVL), süper antijenler, eksfolyatif toksinler, fenol-çözünür modülinler ve αtoksin dahil olmak üzere patogenezde rol oynayan geniş spektrumlu virülans faktörlerine sahiptir. Bu projenin amacı, Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi Hastanesi'nde izole edilen klinik MRSA suşlarında α-toksin ve eksfolyatif toksin A gen varlığının incelenmesidir. Tüp koagülaz testi, sefoksitin disk difüzyon testi ve polimeraz zincir reaksiyonu (PZR) nuc gen amplifikasyonu kullanılarak 76 MRSA izolatı konfirme edilmiştir. İzolatlarda αtoksin ve eksfolyatif toksin A genleri suşların sırasıyla %97.36 ve %2.63'ünde tespit edilmiştir. Bu çalışma, Kuzey Kıbrıs'ta MRSA izolatlarında hemolitik ve epidermolitik toksin varlığını araştıran ilk verileri raporlamakla birlikte, ileriki kapsamlı çalışmalara ışık tutmaktadır.

**Anahtar kelimeler:** *Staphylococcus aureus*, MRSA, virülans faktörü, α-toksin, eksfolyatif toksin A

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

TABLE OF CONTENTS	8
SECTION ONE: INTRODUCTION	15
1. Aims and Scope	15
2. General Information	17
2.1. The genus Staphylococcus	17
2.2. Staphylococcus aureus	
2.3 Laboratory identification	18
2.4 The chromosome	19
2.4.1 The core genome	19
2.4.2 Mobile elements of the genome	19
2.4.2.1 Insertion sequences and transposons	20
2.4.2.2 Plasmids	20
2.4.2.3 Staphylococcal chromosome cassette: SCC	20
2.5. S. aureus cell surface virulence factors	22
2.6. Secreted virulence factors	23
2.6.1. α-hemolysin	23
2.6.2. Bicomponent PFTs	24
2.6.3. Phenol soluble modulins	25
2.6.4. Superantigens	25
2.6.5. Exfoliative toxins	26
2.6.6. Exoenzymes and specific proteins	26
2.5. General aspects of virulence factors regulation	27
3. Epidemiology	28
3.1. Carriage	

3.2. Transmission	
3.3. Risk factors	31
3.4. Pathophysiology and clinical syndromes	31
3.4.1. Skin and skin structure infections	32
3.4.2. Pleuropulmonary infection	32
3.4.3. S. aureus bloodstream infections	33
3.4.4. S. aureus toxin mediated diseases	
4. Antibiotic resistance in <i>S. aureus</i>	34
4.1. Mechanism of antibiotic resistance	35
4.2. Antibiotics resistance in clinical environment	35
4.2.1. The wave of penicillin resistance	35
4.2.2. Penicillin binding proteins and PBP2a resistance	36
4.2.2.1 Penicillin binding proteins	
4.2.2.2 PBP2a	36
4.2.2.3 Clinical impact of β-lactam resistance: MRSA	37
4.2.2.4 HA-MRSA, CA-MRSA and LA-MRSA	37
5. Staphylococcal α-toxin	
5.1. General overview	
<ul><li>5.1. General overview</li><li>5.2. Toxin structure</li></ul>	
	40
5.2. Toxin structure	40 41
<ul><li>5.2. Toxin structure</li><li>5.3. α-toxin binding to target cells</li></ul>	40 41 42
<ul> <li>5.2. Toxin structure</li> <li>5.3. α-toxin binding to target cells</li> <li>5.4. Post binding signaling</li> </ul>	40 41 42 43
<ul> <li>5.2. Toxin structure</li></ul>	40 41 42 43 45
<ul> <li>5.2. Toxin structure</li></ul>	40 41 42 43 45 45

2.5 DNA extraction for molecular tests
2.6. PCR amplification of <i>nuc</i> , <i>hla</i> and <i>exfa</i> genes
2.7 Agarose gel electrophoresis
SECTION THREE: RESULTS
3.1 Patient and sample characteristics
3.2 Phenotypic characterization of MRSA
3.3 Amplification of <i>nuc</i> , <i>hla</i> and <i>exfA</i> genes
<i>nuc</i> gene amplification images53
<i>hla</i> gene amplification images
<i>exfa</i> gene amplification images
SECTION FOUR: DISCUSSION
SECTION FIVE: CONCLUSION
REFERENCES

## **TABLE OF FIGURES**

Figure 1: S. aureus micrographs by Gram-staining and electron microscopy imaging18
Figure 2: Schematic structure of the SCCmecA21
Figure 3: Schematic diagram of <i>S. aureus</i> virulence determinants23
Figure 4: Schematic diagram of extracellular proteins produced by S. aureus27
Figure 5: Schematic diagram of S. aureus transmission dynamic and possible related
impact on healthcare and community
Figure 6: α-hemolysin molecular structure40
Figure 7: Model illustrating key functions of the $\alpha$ -toxin (monomer)-ADAM10 (green)
complex, facilitating membrane binding of the toxin with subsequent oligomerization and
pore formation
Figure 8: Pathogenesis of cutaneous invasion and blistering
Figure 9: Coagulase tube test45
Figure 10: Antibiotic susceptibility testing on Mueller-Hinton agar
Figure 11: Distribution of patients by gender and age group50
Figure 12: Distribution of cases in inpatient and outpatient groups by gender51
Figure 13: Distribution of samples by hospital departments
Figure 14: Distribution of isolates according to the clinical samples
Figure 15: PCR showing positive amplification of 270 bp fragments specific for nuc gene
of S. aureus
Figure 16: PCR showing positive amplification of 209 bp fragments specific for hla gene
of S. aureus
Figure 17: PCR showing positive amplification of 93 bp fragments specific for exfa gene
of S. aureus

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Sequence of primers used for PCR amplification	48
Table 2: PCR cycling conditions used for each amplification	48

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

**MSCRAMM:** microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules *hla:*  $\alpha$ -toxin gene exfA: exfoliative toxin A gene *nuc:* thermonuclease gene **PBP:** penicillin binding protein SCC: staphylococcal cassette chromosome MSSA: methicillin sensitive Staphylococcus aureus **MRSA:** methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* CA-MRSA: community-associated methicillin resistant S. aureus **HA-MRSA:** healthcare-acquired methicillin resistant S. aureus LA-MRSA: livestock-associated methicillin resistant S. aureus **ECDC:** European Center for Disease Prevention and Control **EUCAST:** European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing **CoPS:** coagulase positive staphylococci **CoNS:** coagulase negative staphylococci **IS:** insertion sequence **Tn:** transposon **CP:** capsular polysaccharide LTA: lipoteichoic acid WTA: wall teichoic acid **PFT:** pore forming toxin ADAM-10: a disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 **PLEKHA7:** Pleckstrin Homology Domain Containing A7 **PVL:** Panton-Valentine leukocidin **SAg:** super antigen SAE: S. aureus enterotoxins **ET:** exfoliative toxin

ETA: exfoliative toxin A TSS: toxic shock syndrome TSST: toxic shock syndrome toxin SSSS: staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome SSSI: skin and skin structure infection TCS: two component system *agr*: accessory gene regulator ICU: intensive care unit NLR: node-like receptor PSM: phenol-soluble modulin MDR: multidrug resistant TRNC: Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus WHO: World Health Organization

### **SECTION ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1. Aims and Scope

The impact of antibiotic resistance traits and virulence factors of pathogenic bacteria, on disease pathogenesis and clinical outcome is a well-documented aspect of clinical microbiology. These factors are major concern to global public health, and are needed to be promptly and comprehensively addressed.

Sir Alexander Ogston introduced the name *Staphylococcus* in 1880 to describe a group of bacteria causing suppurative infections, due to their tendency to form grape-like clusters. In 1884, Rosenbach isolated *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) (golden colonies on culture media) and *Staphylococcus albus* (white colonies) (Licitra, 2013). Staphylococci are widespread in the environment, though, *S. aureus* is mainly found as a commensal on human skin and mucous membranes, with approximately 30% of human individuals being asymptomatic and persistent carriers (Sakr et al., 2018). Indeed, *S. aureus* carriage has been well correlated with infection rates in human, particularly in individuals with risk factors such as: underlying disease, active smoking and immunodeficiency) (Akhtar Danesh et al., 2020; Sakr et al., 2018).

*S. aureus*, as a prominent human pathogen, is a leading cause of bacterial infection worldwide. *S. aureus* is capable of infecting a variety of host species (Matuszewska et al., 2020), causing a wide range of human diseases: (i) superficial infections such as skin and soft tissues infections (SSTIs), from benign to life threating conditions (impetigo, cellulitis, surgical sites infections, cutaneous abscesses, purulent cellulitis) (MacMorran et al., 2017); atopic dermatitis (Geoghegan et al., 2018; Hepburn et al., 2017); (ii) systemic and life threatening infections such as blood stream infection (Kourtis et al., 2019), intravascular catheter infections (Austin et al., 2016; Sato et al., 2017) ; infective endocarditis, pleura-pulmonary infections; (iii) toxin-induced conditions such as food poisoning, toxic shock syndrome (Tong et al., 2015), and other staphylococcal clinical syndromes including urinary tract infections, epidermal abscesses and meningitis. Such versatility emerges from the pathogen's ability to secrete diverse host damaging virulence

factors. Among the multiple virulence factors produced by *S. aureus*, it is possible to enumerate, cell surface antigens such as clumping factor, protein A, Microbial Surface Components Recognizing Adhesive Matrix Molecules (MSCRAMMs), that helps attachment to host tissue (Foster, 2019); secretion of enzymes, namely, proteases, nucleases, hyaluronidase, coagulase, staphylokinase can cause tissue destruction and thereby, helps bacterial penetration (Tam & Torres, 2019). On the other hand, toxins are proteins secreted into the extracellular matrix; they for example, as staphylococcal enterotoxins (SETs), may display a potent gastrointestinal pathogenicity and cause intoxication (Fisher et al., 2018); or as exfoliative toxins, disrupt epidermal layers causing staphylococcal-scalded skin syndrome, a disease predominantly affecting infants; or as super-antigens, interfere with receptor function (Kim, 2019). More importantly, cytotoxic activity seen in pore forming toxins, particularly  $\alpha$ -toxin, is of great interest.  $\alpha$ -toxin, also known as  $\alpha$ -hemolysin or *hla* is a protein that injures the human cells through its homoheptamer pore forming capabilities (von Hoven et al., 2019).

The emergence of antimicrobial resistance traits, and more particularly, resistance to methicillin have become widespread and has led to resistant strains. Resistance to methicillin and other  $\beta$ -lactams, such as oxacillin, penicillin, cephalosporin's results from the acquisition of *mecA* gene which resides on a staphylococcal chromosome cassette (*SCCmec*) (Foster & Geoghegan, 2015). Penicillin binding proteins (PBP's) are enzymes that play key role in biosynthesis of major components of bacterial cell wall (Shalaby et al., 2020). In the presence of  $\beta$ -lactams, the native PBP's are inactivated, thus, cell wall major components synthesis is blocked; such process is lethal for the bacterial cell. The *mecA* gene expression produces penicillin-binding protein 2a or 2' (PBP2a or PBP2'), a modified penicillin-binding protein which is not inactivated by  $\beta$ -lactams (due to lower affinity); PBP2a is able to take over the cell wall synthesis in place of native PBP's, giving rise to methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) emergence (Kirmusaolu, 2017). General misuse of antibiotics is known to have led to the selection of hospital-acquired (HA) MRSA as well as community-acquired (CA) MRSA.

Given the strong association between pathogenicity level (including virulence factors and resistance traits) and severity of clinical outcome evidenced by numerous studies (Bennett & Thomsen, 2020; Joo et al., 2019; Mao et al., 2019); and the emergence and spread of both CA-MRSA (Kateete et al., 2019) and HA-MRSA (Lee et al., 2018),

having greater insights into MRSA is therefore invaluable for infection control in local hospitals.

According to the European Center for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) prevalence survey in 2011-2012, *S. aureus* was the second most common cause of healthcare associated infections (12.3%), with 41.2% reported with resistance to methicillin (ecdc, 2013). In 2015, in Cyprus, 43.4% of *S. aureus* invasive isolates were reported to be MRSA (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), 2016).

A closer look to the literature reveals a number of areas in MRSA infection, epidemiology and pathogenesis with limited datasets in Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC). This may raise concern about the challenging issue of *S. aureus* infection management in the country. In response to the need, the present study aims to investigate the presence of staphylococcal  $\alpha$ -toxin gene (*hla*) and exfoliative toxin A gene (*exfa*) genes in MRSA isolates from patients attending Near East University Hospital.

#### 2. General Information

#### 2.1. The genus Staphylococcus

Members of the genus *Staphylococcus* are Gram-positive cocci, 0.5-1.5 µmin diameter, that occur single, in pairs, tetrads or irregular grape-like clusters (Figure 1). They are non-motile, non-spore forming, non-encapsulated (or with limited capsule formation). They are halotolerant (growth in the presence of 10% sodium chloride) and most of the species are facultative anaerobe (except *S. saccharolyticus* and *S. aureus* subsp *anaerobius*). Most species exhibit catalase activity distinguishing them from the genus *Streptococcus* and are oxidase negative (Gherardi et al., 2018). To date, overall 45 species and 24 subspecies have been described.

Coagulase positive staphylococci (CoPS), predominantly represented by *S. aureus*, possess coagulase; conversely those strains which do not possess coagulase enzyme are termed coagulase negative staphylococci (CoNS).



**Figure 1:** *S. aureus* micrographs by Gram-staining and electron microscopy imaging (Murtey & Ramasamy, 2016)

#### 2.2. Staphylococcus aureus

*S. aureus* is a major pathogen with an increasing importance due to the emergence of antibiotic resistance (Foster, 2017). The bacterium is a human commensal and may act as a pathogen when it gains access to a normally sterile site due to traumatic inoculation (Dayan et al., 2016).

#### 2.3 Laboratory identification

Clinical isolates of staphylococci species can be identified using Gram staining, colony morphology, biochemical tests including catalase, coagulase production, antibiotic resistance traits, hemolysins, carbohydrates degradation ability such as mannitol fermentation.

S. aureus colonies appear round with regular edges and typical golden appearance on blood agar. They are frequently surrounded by a zone of clear  $\beta$  hemolysis. Although a variety of biochemical test can be used to confirm S. aureus such as nuclease, catalase, clumping factor tests, coagulase test remain the gold standard (Aryee & Edgeworth, 2016). S. aureus is both catalase and coagulase positive. Regarding antimicrobial susceptibility testing, the Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion test is the most widely used approach as it allows to test bacterial susceptibility to various antibiotics simultaneously. Cefoxitin disk diffusion method is used to rule out the phenotypic presentation of resistance to methicillin and distinguish MRSA from methicillin sensitive *S. aureus* (Kriegeskorte et al., 2017). Of note, *S. aureus* is currently resistant to most of the antibiotics used (Foster, 2017). Moreover, rapid development of molecular identification systems, renders detection of *S. aureus* timely and comparably more accurate.

#### 2.4 The chromosome

Whole genome sequencing of *S. aureus* chromosome has yielded a comprehensive overview of genomic arrangement. The genome (2.820 Mb to 2.903 Mb in size), is composed of a single circular chromosome, with a collection of extrachromosomal accessory genes elements.

#### 2.4.1 The core genome

*S. aureus* core genome is approximately 2.3 Mb in size and is responsible for common functions such as metabolism control and other maintenance "housekeeping" functions; as well as many virulence factor genes. This part of the genome is highly conserved among the different strains and represent approximately 75% of the whole genome (Chua et al., 2013).

#### 2.4.2 Mobile elements of the genome

Accounting for around 25%, mobile genetic elements consist of diverse elements such as: plasmids, pathogenicity islands, transposons, chromosomal cassettes (Lindsay & Holden, 2004). They are DNA fragments encoding for numerous proven virulence and resistance factors. They are termed as *mobile genetic elements*, due to their high inter-

strain transfer frequency, and are from a functional point of view, not essential (Alibayov et al., 2014).

#### 2.4.2.1 Insertion sequences and transposons

Insertion sequences (*ISs*) and transposons (*Tns*) are transposable genetic elements. They carry genes responsible for the expression of proteins involved in transposition activity. Only transposons carry accessory virulence genes, such as antibiotic resistance genes. Although *ISs* do not carry any resistance gene, their presence is very important for the stabilization of some virulence genes (Foster & Geoghegan, 2015). Termed as transposable elements, they are partly responsible for the genome plasticity.

#### 2.4.2.2 Plasmids

*S. aureus* plasmids have been grouped into three classes, class I, II and III according to their relative size and the genes they possess. These plasmids carry a various collection of genes encoding resistance to antibiotics and heavy metals as well as resistance to detergents. Class III plasmids are mostly conjugative plasmids (Foster & Geoghegan, 2015). For example, *blaZ* gene, responsible for resistance to penicillin is harbored by a transposable element that can be found either in the core chromosome, or, as part of a plasmid which additionally encode for heavy metal resistance (Vestergaard et al., 2019).

#### 2.4.2.3 Staphylococcal chromosome cassette: SCC

SCC elements are relatively large mobile genetic elements that can carry several sets of virulence genes. The most widely acknowledged SCC element is the SCCmec cassette that carry the mec complex which contains the mecA gene. This gene encodes a unique penicillin-binding protein PBP2a, responsible for low affinity to  $\beta$ -lactam

antibiotics, as well as other functional genes (Alibayov et al., 2014). All *S. aureus* strains resistant to methicillin carry a *SCCmec* cassette, and to date, up to 13 different types of *SCCmec* have been identified (Baig et al., 2018).

All *SCCmec* elements share the same molecular structure that consist of : (i) the *mec* **complex**, which carries the *mecA* gene as well as its regulatory genes namely *mecI* (repressor) and *mec*RI (trans-membrane  $\beta$ -lactam sensing signal transducer) and insertion sequences; the *ccr* **complex**, which mediates integration into and excision of *SCCmec* at specific sites of the bacterial genome; and, the **J** regions, stands for 'joining' regions, are regions bordering the *mec* and *ccr* complexes sites (**Figure 2**) (Carretto et al., 2018).



**Figure 2:** Schematic structure of the *SCCmecA*. Presentation of the *mecA* gene complex along with its regulatory components; the ccr gene complex and the J regions at the extremities. *SCCmec* is bracketed by direct repeats (DRs) that contain integration site sequence (ISS) recognized by cassette chromosome recombinase (CCR). A pair of inverted repeats (IRs) (Hiramatsu et al., 2014)

Currently, other genes coding for resistance to methicillin in S. aureus have been described; *mecC* (Dupieux et al., 2017; Kriegeskorte et al., 2017), *mecD* (Schwendener et al., 2017) and *mecB* (Lakhundi & Zhang, 2018). Other known mobile genetic elements of *S. aureus* are bacteriophages, genomic and pathogenicity islands (Lindsay & Holden, 2004).

#### 2.5. S. aureus cell surface virulence factors

*S. aureus* cell wall organization shows similar architecture to that of other grampositive bacteria. The first structure to be described is the surrounding polysaccharide capsule that act as a distinct virulence factor able to trigger host response (**Figure 3**) (B. Liu et al., 2017). Major capsular polysaccharides (CP), CP5 and CP8, are demonstrated to impede opsonization and phagocytic killing by polymorphonuclear neutrophils which is considered immune system's primary mechanism of pathogen clearance and allow the bacteria to persist. It has been shown that high capsule expression in a certain strain is consistent with high resistance to *in vitro* opsonophagocytic killing (Nanra et al., 2013), and correlates with higher virulence in encapsulated strains in comparison to capsuledefective mutants (Watts et al., 2005).

Teichoic acids are located within the cell wall. They are either incorporated into the plasma membrane as lipoteichoic acids (LTAs), or to the cell wall as wall teichoic acids (WTAs). Several host receptors interact with teichoic acids, yielding functional effects as various as adhesion, activation of dendritic cells and Langerhans cells (epidermidis and mucosal tissue resident immune cell, thus playing an important role in *S. aureus*-related skin pathology) and detection by serum components (Kang et al., 2016; van Dalen et al., 2020). Moreover, they mediate interaction with biomaterials and contribute to biofilm formation, control protein machinery of the cell or serve as phage receptors (Xia et al., 2010).

Surface associated proteins, also termed as cell wall anchored proteins, are covalently linked to the peptidoglycan (Becker, 2018). It is a super family that perform functions ranging from adhesion and invasion of host cell, to immune evasion. The MSCRAMM is the most prevalent family, it includes cell surface proteins such as clumping factor (Clf) A and B, fibronectin-binding protein (FnBP) A and B involved in biofilm formation, biofilm associated protein (Bap), which interact with host extracellular matrix molecules and promote attachment to tissue as well as evasion from immune system (Foster, 2019).



Figure 3: Schematic diagram of *S. aureus* virulence determinants (Shettigar & Murali, 2020)

### 2.6. Secreted virulence factors

*S. aureus* produces several sets of virulent exoproteins which reflects the ability of the pathogen to cause a variety of diseases (**Figure 4**). Staphylococcal toxins can be classified as follows: (i) the cytolysins, that exhibit cytolytic activity; (ii) exotoxins with super-antigen (SAg) activity and (iii) specific enzymes. The first two groups have been extensively studied and correlated with disease.

#### **2.6.1.** α-hemolysin

Cytolytic toxins is the group of membrane damaging toxins that exhibit cytolytic effect toward cells. First,  $\beta$ -barrel pore forming toxins (PFTs) form  $\beta$ -barrel pores in the plasma membrane of the target cells, inducing cell death. *S. aureus* is known to produce such toxins that target different cell surface receptors and exhibit a very wide range of cell and species specificities (Tam & Torres, 2019).

One of the most studied member of this subgroup is  $\alpha$ -hemolysin: the prototypic  $\beta$ -barrel PFT; its functions have been described as direct cell toxicity on many cell types, immune-modulation through initiation of pro-inflammatory signaling and induction of cytokines secretion (Berube & Wardenburg, 2013). In 2010, Wilke et al. have identified the cell surface receptor A disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 (ADAM-10) as a membrane requirement for  $\alpha$ -hemolysin to exert its action, thus required for the initiation of cascade signaling by which the toxin monomer polymerizes into a transmembrane cytolytic pore (Wilke & Wardenburg, 2010).  $\alpha$ -hemolysin is of high relevance in a variety of staphylococcal infection models in animal; its signaling effect intensity have been correlated with factors such as: (i) the cell type, (ii) the relative concentration of the toxin, (iii) the level of ADAM-10 expressed on the cell (Berube & Wardenburg, 2013; Seilie & Bubeck Wardenburg, 2017; Tam & Torres, 2019). More recently, PLEKHA7 (plekstrinhomology domain containing protein 7), a cellular adherens junction component, has additionally been reported to play a critical role in  $\alpha$ -hemolysin toxicity, and susceptibility to epithelial infections in an animal model (Popov et al., 2015).

#### 2.6.2. Bicomponent PFTs

Another major cytotoxin group is the bicomponent pore forming toxin group. It is a group of toxins with large effect toward monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and erythrocytes (Oliveira et al., 2018). The first member of this group to be purified is Panton-Valentine leucocidin (PVL), a bi-component leukocidin PFT which consists of two subunits: LukF-PV and LukS-PV; PVL exhibit a prevalent specificity for leucocytes (Tam & Torres, 2019), and is mostly associated with CA-MRSA (Bennett & Thomsen, 2020). The pore formation is the result of interactions between the subunits F, S and the host cell surface proteins. The formed pore exhibits the typical three domain structure (Cap, Rim and Stem domain). PVL genes are carried within lysogenic phage genes (Nawrotek et al., 2018); and at least eight different lysogenic phages are known to carry PVL genes.

 $\gamma$ -hemolysins are Hla AB and Hla CB. They both share the same F subunit (Hla B), but differ in their S subunit (Hla A and Hla C) (Oliveira et al., 2018). They are

cytotoxic towards red blood cells and the genes responsible for their expression is located in the core genome and present in 99% of *S. aureus* strains (Tam & Torres, 2019).

Other leukocidins, Luk ED and Luk AB are cytotoxic for leukocytes. The first is highly conserved among 70% of strains and the latter is present in the genome of 99% of *S. aureus* strains (Tam & Torres, 2019).

#### 2.6.3. Phenol soluble modulins

Phenol soluble modulins are amphipathic peptide toxins that are specific to staphylococci (Tam & Torres, 2019). They are genome encoded toxins and are divided into two subfamilies: (i) PSM $\alpha$  (which include  $\delta$ -hemolysin) are short amino-acid chain (20-25 amino-acids) toxins; (ii) PSM $\beta$  with longer amino-acids chain (40-45 amino-acids). They are primarily regulated by the *agr* system in an RNA III-independent manner and may function as toxins, assist biofilm formation (Oliveira et al., 2018) and act as pro-inflammatory inducers (Geoghegan et al., 2018).

#### 2.6.4. Superantigens

*S. aureus* superantigens (SAgs) are potent T-cell mitogens and can induce their non-specific activation and proliferation. They are divided into three different subclasses: (i) staphylococcal enterotoxins (SAEs), agents of food-borne diseases; (ii) staphylococcal enterotoxin-like toxins and (iii) toxic shock syndrome toxin (TSST), agent of toxic shock syndrome (TSS) (Tam & Torres, 2019). The hallmark of their activity is due to their ability to induce nonspecific activation of immune T cell, resulting in massive clonal expansion, overproduction of cytokines (cytokine storm), and exacerbated inflammation. Over 26 SAgs have been identified to date (Bennett & Thomsen, 2020). TSS is a severe striking condition defined by fever, rash/desquamation and in ultimate case, multi organ failure. Besides, staphylococcal protein A (spa) is the only B cell SAg described, with an Fc portion of immunoglobulins binding activity, thus preventing opsonophagocytic killing (Bennett & Thomsen, 2020).

#### 2.6.5. Exfoliative toxins

Exfoliative toxins (ETs) is the group of toxins showing epidermolytic activity by cleaving cell-to-cell focal adhesions in epidermis (Oliveira et al., 2018). The characteristic manifestation is the skin exfoliation seen in patients suffering from staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome. There are four ETs present in *S. aureus*: ETA, ETB, ETC and ETD; each form is antigenically distinct from the others (Tam & Torres, 2019).

#### 2.6.6. Exoenzymes and specific proteins

*S. aureus* secrete other enzymes with specific activity: (i) staphylococcal coagulase, which promotes survival and escape from immune system; (ii) spreading factors such as staphylokinase and hyaluronidase which cleaves hyaluronic acid, a major host extracellular matrix component, nucleases, lipases and proteases(Tam & Torres, 2019). Evasion of innate immune system is also mediated through secreted and cell surface components such as: (i) staphylococcal complement inhibitor (SCIN), a C3 convertase inhibitor; (ii) chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *S. aureus*, which inhibit chemotactic migration of neutrophils; (iii) extracellular adherence protein (Eap) inhibits diapedesis;(iv) superoxide dismutase, which enable phagosome survival in the case of bacterium being engulfed by neutrophils (Foster & Geoghegan, 2015).



**Figure 4:** Schematic diagram of extracellular proteins produced by *S. aureus*. Their target and effect on cell structure: (on the left) *S. aureus* cytolytic toxins cause cell membrane damage and result in hemolysis. (in the middle) Staphylococcal super antigens eventually induce non-specific proliferation of T cells; intoxication by staphylococcal enterotoxins lead to staphylococcal food poisoning. (on the right) cell-cell adhesion disruption through desmoglein-1 hydrolysis by exfoliative toxins cause SSSS (Kim, 2019)

#### 2.5. General aspects of virulence factors regulation

The large variety of virulence factors produced by *S. aureus* and their consistency in defining the course of staphylococcal infection with such fine orchestrated manner is mostly due to the complex regulatory system of the bacterium.

Several regulatory systems have been identified in the control of virulence factors production. The accessory gene regulator (agr) is a Two-Component System (TCS) of regulation which allows the pathogen to sense and respond to changes in environmental

conditions (Haag & Bagnoli, 2015). The *agr* system uses a quorum-sensing machinery to regulate exotoxin production in a cell density dependent pattern (Becker, 2018). Despite the somehow complex architecture of the *agr* quorum-sensing system, the functioning mechanism can be summarized as follows: (i) *S. aureus* synthetize a peptide called auto inducing peptide (AIP); (ii) as bacteria grow and reach a certain density in the environment, thus a certain concentration of AIP, the quorum-sensing system is triggered, activating the quorum signaling cascade; (iii) the resulting regulatory response can either promote or repress the expression of any of the virulence factor under the control of the regulatory system (Kong et al., 2016). The regulatory system controls several virulence factors, therefore plays an important role in pathogenesis. Studies in animal models have shown that *agr*-defective mutants show decreased severity of infection and lower levels of expression of toxins and factors in comparison to wildtype strains (Gong et al., 2014; Grundstad et al., 2019; Jenul & Horswill, 2019).

Additionally, there is the *SaeRS*, another TCS of *S. aureus*, which has been demonstrated to control the expression of virulence factors such as: *hla*, *Luk ED*, *coa*, *hlgABC in vivo*(Guo et al., 2017). Assisting biofilm formation and invasion of the host, interaction between *SaeRS* and *agr* has been a controversial point widely discussed in the literature and is also thoroughly described in a systematic review (Q. Liu et al., 2016).

#### 3. Epidemiology

#### 3.1. Carriage

Bacteria are not always pathogenic in the strictest sense. Understanding *S. aureus* pathogenesis requires insights into its mode of transmission and colonization. *S. aureus* is a commensal inhabitant of human epithelial surfaces, as well as a proven cause of wide range of infections (Tong et al., 2015). To successfully establish colonization, *S. aureus* needs to interact with human cell surface components through its expressed adhesives molecules (Krismer et al., 2017; Mulcahy & McLoughlin, 2016). *S. aureus* may inhabit the whole nasal area with anterior nares appearing to be the most prevalent site the organism can be isolated from (Kaspar et al., 2016). Variations of carriage rate in

individuals are observed according to the age, gender, geographic area, gender, part of the body colonized, and also host genetic determinants (Sollid et al., 2014). For example, higher carriage rates have been described in groups of HIV-infected individuals, in comparison to HIV-uninfected individuals (44% and 24% respectively) (Kotpal et al., 2016).

According to the 'culture rule' described by Nouwen et al in 2014, carriers may be classified into three groups: persistent carriers, intermittent carriers and non-carriers (Nouwen et al., 2004). Approximately 20% of the human individuals are permanent asymptomatic carriers, 20% are non-carriers and the remaining 60% are intermittent carriers of *S. aureus* (Laux et al., 2019). However, limitation of applied methodology encompasses previous research and current clinical practice screening which often typically investigate nasal colonization to rule out carriage. This may not reflect the real situation and further complicates our understanding of the significance of carriage state (Mehraj et al., 2016; van Belkum, 2016). The results presented by Senn et al. in 2016 describing a 'stealthy colonization of the gut' as an unrecognized niche, support that hypothesis (Senn et al., 2016).

Nevertheless, carriage of MRSA is an emerging and well acknowledged risk factor due to the antibiotic administration pressure that selects resistant strains (Lindsay, 2013).

#### 3.2. Transmission

The high prevalence of carriage, either persistent or intermittent, combined with the asymptomatic nature render prevention and treatment of infections more challenging, particularly concerning MRSA. Person to person transmission constitutes the most important mode of transmission (**Figure 5**). In healthcare facilities, healthcare workers, medical devices, patients and their relatives may be carriers of *S. aureus* including MRSA (Chang et al., 2017; Lamanna et al., 2017). Those carriers represent a source of transmission since they return back to community, where infection control measures are minimal, hence increasing community-based transmission (Barcudi et al., 2020; Lucet et al., 2009).

Similar work on transmission dynamics have indicated that worldwide dissemination on CA-MRSA carried by long distance traveling was strongly related to travel-associated MRSA skin and skin structure infections (Nurjadi et al., 2019). Moreover, isolation of *S. aureus* in neonates has been strongly correlated with whether the mother is a carrier or not (Lin et al., 2018). The 'cloud phenomenon' in *S. aureus* nasal carriers, is characterized by the air borne dispersal of the pathogen; although rare, this phenomenon has been described, and appear to be exacerbated in carriers suffering from viral upper respiratory infection (Bassetti et al., 2005; Bischoff et al., 2006).



**Figure 5:** Schematic diagram of *S. aureus* transmission dynamic and possible related impact on healthcare and community (Sakr et al., 2018)

#### 3.3. Risk factors

A quick review of the related literature allows to draw a conclusion: overall likelihood to develop opportunistic infection increases with tissue barrier disruption, combined to carriage and exposure to health care.

It has been reported that despite all measure taken prior operative surgery, *S. aureus*-induced surgical site infections is a recurrent cause of nosocomial infection (Pal et al., 2019). There is ample evidence indicating that preoperative topical decolonization as well as antibiotic prophylaxis decrease the risk of subsequent infection in patients (George et al., 2016; Lefebvre et al., 2017; Mallet et al., 2018; Septimus & Schweizer, 2016). With focus on intensive care unit (ICU) patients, Gagnaire et al. in 2019 pointed out the important role of *S. aureus* nasal carriage as a major risk of *S. aureus* ICU-acquired infection (Gagnaire et al., 2019). Moreover, infections, complication and mortality were significantly higher among individuals with decreased immune status who are prone to have higher carriage rate (Kotpal et al., 2016; Singla et al., 2019).

Most of the current evidence identifies intravascular and indwelling devices, medical biomaterials carriers as another groups subject to foreign-body related infections (Christensen et al., 2018; Matuszewska et al., 2020; Ricciardi et al., 2018; Sato et al., 2017).

#### **3.4.** Pathophysiology and clinical syndromes

Although staphylococcal infection may present diverse clinical foci, a consistent pattern can be derived in regard of the pathogenesis: (i) asymptomatic colonization of the skin and/or mucosa, as previously discussed, is the milestone for further infections; (ii) localized infections subsequent to trauma provide the pathogen with a route of entry to normally sterile body sites; (iii) given the extended armamentarium of *S. aureus*, hematogenous spread from primary foci is often seen and lead to multiorgan involvement and life threatening conditions (Tong et al., 2015). This section will briefly review some of the most important clinical manifestations.

#### 3.4.1. Skin and skin structure infections

Previously known as skin and soft tissue infections, SSSIs are the most common manifestation of staphylococcal disease. Generally of variable presentation and severity, the etiology of SSSIs involves invasion of the skin and underlying tissues by the pathogen, following disruption of physical barriers; apart from trauma, special skin condition such as atopic dermatitis, increases the risk of developing secondary bacterial infection (Geoghegan et al., 2018; Hepburn et al., 2017).

SSSIs are most often associated with *S. aureus* as colonized patients are at higher risk for recurrent infection (Creech et al., 2015; Esposito et al., 2016). In 2018, while studying the effect of systemic antibiotics on *S. aureus* colonization and recurrent skin infection in children with SSSIs, Hogan et al demonstrated that 81% of *S. aureus*-SSSIs were caused by MRSA, with MRSA colonization in children as high as 63% (Hogan et al., 2018). Similar increase in the incidence of MRSA, particularly of CA-MRSA as a leading cause of SSSIs have been reported in many parts of the world (MacMorran et al., 2017). Importantly, PVL-positive strains were implicated, as the presence of PVL has clearly been associated with increased severity (Berla-Kerzhner et al., 2017; Klein et al., 2019).

SSSIs clinical presentation may vary from mild infections such as impetigo, ecthyma, to follicular infection such as folliculitis, furunculosis; and intradermal deep infections such as erysipelas, cellulitis, necrotizing fasciitis (Olaniyi et al., 2016).

#### **3.4.2.** Pleuropulmonary infection

Pneumonia is an inflammatory condition of the lung that occurs predominantly in children under the age of 5, and in individuals with underlying conditions (Masters et al., 2017). Two type of pneumonia can be presented: (i) community-acquired pneumonia that occurs without exposure to healthcare settings; (ii) healthcare acquired pneumonia, which comprises ventilator-associated pneumonia, and occurs 48 h after hospital admission or exposure to healthcare setting.

Necrotizing pneumonia is a severe invasive complication of pneumonia characterized by necrotic lung injury and abscess formation (Krutikov et al., 2019). The high incidence of this condition in children without any prior respiratory tract infection strongly support a consistent link between necrotizing pneumonia and community-acquired pneumonia, in particular involving CA-MRSA (Masters et al., 2017). CA-MRSA with necrotizing features have mostly been associated with PVL production and high mortality rate (Hayakawa et al., 2020; Takigawa et al., 2019). Moreover, superinfection with respiratory virus during a respiratory tract infection episode further complicates the clinical outcome. Bacterial proliferation is therefore, in this case, enhanced by virus induced immune modulation and cellular damage (Duployez et al., 2020).

In their study of hospital related pneumonia, Karatas et al. reported that *S. aureus* accounted for 15.1% of all ventilator-associated pneumonia cases (Karatas et al., 2016). Similar rate have been identified in Egypt (Galal et al., 2016) and in one Asian region meta-analysis (Bonell et al., 2019). Given the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, the MRSA challenge is to be considered to reduce the risk of superinfections (Lupia et al., 2020).

#### 3.4.3. S. aureus bloodstream infections

Hematogenous spread of the bacteria may commonly originate from a primary clinical foci such as SSSIs, pneumonia, intravascular catheter (Sato et al., 2017); other risk determinants may be age, underlying condition or even ethnicity (Chaudry et al., 2019; McMullan et al., 2016). Bacteremia can remain uncomplicated, or evolve into complicated metastatic infections, such as infective endocarditis, osteomyelitis, septic arthritis (Horino & Hori, 2020).

#### 3.4.4. S. aureus toxin mediated diseases

*S. aureus* toxin mediated diseases encompass: (i) *S. aureus* food-borne illnesses due to consumption of food contaminated with SAEs (Ondusko & Nolt, 2018); (ii) *S. aureus* toxic shock syndrome mediated by TSST and associated with either menstrual and

non-menstrual conditions (Tong et al., 2015); (iii) staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome (SSSS) is caused by ETs and mostly affects infants and small children's (Grama et al., 2016). Other clinical syndromes include meningitis, urinary tract infection and epidural abscesses. Although uncommonly caused by *S. aureus*, the implication of MRSA in these infections is increasingly reported and further complicates management of infections (Tong et al., 2015).

#### 4. Antibiotic resistance in S. aureus

Antibiotic resistance in one of the biggest public health challenges of the era. From a genetic point of view, such resistance to antibiotics occurs upon changes in bacteria; considered as an adaptive response to the pressure of antibiotics. Basis of antibiotic resistance in bacteria have been extensively investigated for a considerable period, ranging from the early 20<sup>th</sup> century to current date. Regarding *S. aureus*, World Health Organization (WHO) Global Report on Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance 2014 clearly stated higher risk of death and higher additional cost (including antibacterial therapy and medical care cost) in patient suffering from an infection caused by a resistant strain.

Bacterial adaptation to environmental pressure of antimicrobial molecules, upon interaction with antimicrobial-producing microorganisms, is a widely observed phenomenon. Historically, two strategies have been used to tackle antimicrobial molecules effects; a) mutation, which unlike natural intrinsic resistance shared within a given species, arises spontaneously upon exposition to antimicrobial molecule (Munita et al., 2016); b) horizontal gene transfer, the second strategy, encompasses all the process leading to acquisition of foreign genomic material either by: (i) transformation by DNA uptake from the surrounding environment, (ii) transduction or acquisition of genomic material via a viral vector, (iii) conjugation, the bacterial sex, involving the exchange of genomic material between two bacteria (Lerminiaux & Cameron, 2019).

#### 4.1. Mechanism of antibiotic resistance

The above-mentioned strategies generally affect antimicrobial molecule action either by: (i) decreasing affinity of the drug toward its target through target modification or target bypass; (ii) activation of drug efflux pump; (iii) modification of regulatory systems controlling genes encoding for drug transporters; (iv) degradation or modification of the antimicrobial compound (C Reygaert, 2018; Peterson & Kaur, 2018).

#### 4.2. Antibiotics resistance in clinical environment

Although a major problem in clinical settings and associated with increased additional cost and mortality, antibiotic resistance, first to penicillin, then to methicillin and more recently to vancomycin, have been evidenced to be present in environmental microorganisms prior the introduction of the drugs (Harkins et al., 2017; Ogawara, 2016). The wave of resistance to methicillin that arose after its introduction to clinical use, started in 1961, with the first report of a methicillin resistant variant in *S. aureus* (BARBER, 1961).

This section reviews the successive wave of resistance in *S. aureus*, with particular emphasis on resistance to methicillin clonal diversification and current status of the challenge.

#### 4.2.1. The wave of penicillin resistance

History credits Alexander Fleming with discovering penicillin in 1928 (Gaynes, 2017). Its introduction to clinical use later 1941 has led unfortunately to the emergence of penicillin resistant strains as early as 1942. First restricted to hospital settings, these strains became pandemic by spreading to community by late 1960s (Lowy, 2003).

*S. aureus* resistance to penicillin in mediated by the *blaZ* gene, encoding for a  $\beta$ -lactamase enzyme. Briefly, bacterial exposition to penicillin, and more generally  $\beta$ -lactam

antibiotics, activate the *blaZ* signal transducer results the transcription and the production of the  $\beta$ -lactamase enzyme which hydrolyses the  $\beta$ -lactam ring and renders the antibiotic inactive (Shalaby et al., 2020). As high as 99% of circulating *S. aureus* strains carry the *blaZ* gene and are resistant to penicillin (Vestergaard et al., 2019).

#### 4.2.2. Penicillin binding proteins and PBP2a resistance

#### 4.2.2.1 Penicillin binding proteins

The synthesis of bacterial cell wall is a complex process involving several steps and components. Penicillin-binding-proteins (PBPs) are membrane bound proteins that catalyze reaction of bacterial cell wall synthesis (carboxypeptidation and transglycosylation) during the extracellular chain cross-linking (Shalaby et al., 2020). There are four types of PBPs in *S. aureus*: PBP1, PBP2, PBP3 and PBP4 (Kirmusaolu, 2017).

### 4.2.2.2 PBP2a

Originally, PBP2 is a dual function enzyme that catalyze both transpeptidation and transglycosylation. Its inhibition leads to impaired peptidoglycan cross-linking and subsequent bacterial lysis through leakage of the cytoplasmic content. In the presence of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, *S. aureus* strains resistant to methicillin produce a unique PBP in large amount and bacteria can still proliferate. The resistance basis is related to the acquisition of *mecA* gene, a resistance determinant carried by the *SCCmec*, which encodes for a novel PBP: PBP2a or PBP2'. PBP2a, co-functioning with other PBPs, is able to continue the peptidoglycan elongation as well as cross-linking, thus enables the bacteria to exhibit resistance to methicillin. The mechanistic of resistance is achieved by change in target; PBP2a exhibit a distortion of its active site and prevents  $\beta$ -lactams binding, while allowing peptidoglycan substrate to continue elongation (Shalaby et al., 2020).
### 4.2.2.3 Clinical impact of β-lactam resistance: MRSA

*S. aureus* is a worldwide cause of both community and hospital acquired infection as well as multidrug resistant infections (Henderson & Nimmo, 2018; Thai et al., 2019). Methicillin is a semi-synthetic  $\beta$ -lactamase-insensitive  $\beta$ -lactam. MRSA variant appeared in 1961, and rapidly spread worldwide (Lee et al., 2018). Since first identified among clinical isolates, a contemporary definition of hospital associated-MRSA emerged and define all *S. aureus* isolates recovered from patients 2 or more days after hospital admission or with MRSA risk factors such as antecedent of recent hospitalization, dialysis, surgery, indwelling medical device. Its counterpart, community associated-MRSA, define all *S. aureus* isolates recovered from patients within 2 days of hospital admission and without previously-mentioned MRSA risk factors (Gnanamani et al., 2017).

## 4.2.2.4 HA-MRSA, CA-MRSA and LA-MRSA

Since its emergence, MRSA has been a leading cause of hospital-associated nosocomial infections; those infections are increasingly difficult to treat due to their association with other antibiotics resistance traits phenotypically manifesting as multidrug resistant-MRSA (Parhizgari et al., 2016; Thai et al., 2019). From such challenge emerges new concerns, as those infections are related to longer hospital stay and increased economic burden (Thampi et al., 2015).

Given its remarkable fitness, the multitude of virulence factors secreted, its ability to reside as a human commensal and overcome antibiotic pressure, it is important to understand the interplay between risk factors. *S. aureus* associated infections represent a high proportion of infections in individuals with health-care associated risk factors (Mao et al., 2019). With nasal and skin carriage as first determinant risk factor for subsequent infection, it has interestingly been reported that bloodstream infection causative strain and nasal strain share the same genotype in most of the cases (Lakhundi & Zhang, 2018). A systematic review, reported that MRSA isolation was 55% higher in burn ICU patients (Khan et al., 2018). Although MRSA has diversified into a large variety of clones and disseminated worldwide (Andrade-Figueiredo & Leal-Balbino, 2016; Aung et al., 2019; Zarfel et al., 2016), their distribution and their relative fitness within health care settings vary with geography (Lakhundi & Zhang, 2018).

Considered until 1990s as endemic to hospital settings, the epidemiology of MRSA has drastically changed with the emergence of CA-MRSA. CA-MRSA tends, conversely to its counterpart, to occur in healthy individuals, displaying SSSIs as the predominant clinical manifestation. Epidemiologically, CA-MRSA is most often associated with *SCCmec* type IV (Rebić et al., 2019; X. Wang et al., 2019). PVL has been closely regarded as a hallmark of CA-MRSA, and has been described as a promoter of condition severity (Berla-Kerzhner et al., 2017; Nurjadi et al., 2019; Olaniyi et al., 2016), although the role of the latter in pathogenesis has been subject to many controversies; some studies describe it as of high relevance (Berla-Kerzhner et al., 2017; Klein et al., 2019), yet its direct role in pathogenesis is still not clearly understood (Nawrotek et al., 2018).

The frontiers between CA- and HA-MRSA became blurry with the increasing observed occurrence of CA-MRSA causing invasive, nosocomial infections; following the current trend, CA-MRSA tend to invade healthcare settings and in the future replace HA-MRSA as the dominant variant (Choo, 2017; Kateete et al., 2019; Klein et al., 2019; Lamanna et al., 2017). Moreover, although it appears to be limited to  $\beta$ -lactam resistance (Lakhundi & Zhang, 2018), genetic diversification may lead to the acquisition of additional antimicrobial resistance traits in CA-MRSA.

In addition to what have been discussed in this section, it is noteworthy to mention a variant of MRSA related to livestock's that have transferred to humans. Livestock's have been recognized as a reservoir for MRSA colonization in humans. Reported cases of human colonization by MRSA originated from animals have been described. In Germany, a study reported that 10%, 15% and 3% of MRSA isolated respectively from septicemia, wound infection and general nosocomial infection were found to be livestock-associated MRSA (LA-MRSA) (Cuny et al., 2015). Individuals with animal occupational exposure also appeared to have higher carriage rate (77% to 86%) in comparison to normal population, and interestingly, LA-MRSA associated infections reported were likely to occur in areas of farm settings. Consistently supporting previous findings, a comparative study of both HA-MRSA and LA-MRSA described less virulence in the latter; antibiotic susceptibility pattern were also different and dependent on whether a given antibiotic was extensively used in either human or animal health management (Mutters et al., 2016). It appears that LA-MRSA asymptomatic carriers could be involved into the spread of LA-MRSA among farm settings and urban areas (Larsen et al., 2016) leading to an increased incidence of LA-MRSA in hospital settings (Kevorkijan et al., 2018). This epidemiological shift complicates the management policies designed against hospital and community acquired MRSA spread.

### **5.** Staphylococcal α-toxin

#### **5.1. General overview**

α-toxin is the most studied member of staphylococcal hemolysins. Its role in pathogenesis of staphylococcal infections is critical and most often associated to hemolytic, dermonecrotic and lethal activities (Berube & Wardenburg, 2013). Also known as *hla* or α-hemolysin, α-toxin is the prototypic β-barrel pore forming toxin. The toxin is encoded by the *hla* gene, part of the bacterial genome, and is secreted as a 33 kDa water soluble monomer (Oliveira et al., 2018). Upon binding on host cell membrane, α-toxin monomers oligomerize into heptameric β-barrel pore across the membrane of the target cell, thus form a transmembrane channel (Tam & Torres, 2019). The toxin, found to act upon a large variety of cell and species is of increasing relevance since *hla* gene and toxin expression is highly conserved in *S. aureus* strains; 99.6% and 97.6% for MSSA and MRSA respectively, according to the findings of Tabor and colleagues (Tabor et al., 2016). α-toxin expression in tightly controlled by several regulatory systems; the accessory gene regulator (*agr*), the staphylococcal accessory gene regulator (*sarA*), the staphylococcal accessory protein effector (*sae*), the repressor of proteins regulatory protein (*rot*), among others have been described (Jenul & Horswill, 2019).

### 5.2. Toxin structure

As previously mentioned,  $\alpha$ -toxin is secreted as a water-soluble monomer and oligomerizes on the host cell membrane. Early studies of the toxin structure have used electron micrograph as well as purified membrane bound  $\alpha$ -toxin pore and described the stand-alone as a circular ring-like structure (von Hoven et al., 2019). High resolution crystallography characterized the mushroom-like structure of  $\alpha$ -toxin describing three different domains: (i) cap domain, the entry on the pore, on the extracellular face; (ii) rim domain, the pore interface embedded in the target cell membrane and (iii) stem domain, the membrane perforating channel that runs across the host cell membrane (**Figure 6**).



**Figure 6:**  $\alpha$ -hemolysin molecular structure. (A) The heptameric mushroom-like structure showing three domains; the cap, extracellular domain; the rim, interfacing domain and the stem, transmembrane channeling domain. (B) The monomeric form of  $\alpha$ -hemolysin. (Du et al., 2018)

### 5.3. α-toxin binding to target cells

A disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 (ADAM10) has been identified as the receptor of  $\alpha$ -toxin on host cell membrane (Wilke & Wardenburg, 2010). Although the heptameric oligomer formation mechanism is yet to be resolved, the role of ADAM10 in  $\alpha$ -toxin-mediated toxicity have been extensively studied (**Figure 7**) (von Hoven et al., 2019).

Using human keratinocytes cell line, Von Hoven and colleagues confirmed ADAM10 as a promoter of  $\alpha$ -toxin binding, and related ADAM10 enzymatic activity toward E-cadherin as an  $\alpha$ -toxin dose-dependent activity (Von Hoven et al., 2016). Additionally, the authors have (as well as Power and colleagues in 2015 that have used a knockout approach of ADAM10 in platelets) showed that specific knockout of ADAM10 renders HAP1 cells  $\alpha$ -toxin-insensitive, in comparison to parental HAP1 cells (Powers et al., 2015; Von Hoven et al., 2016). There is therefore ample evidence supporting ADAM10 as the high affinity receptor for  $\alpha$ -toxin. Moreover, several studies have evidenced a complementary co-functioning between ADAM10 and other membrane proteins as directing sensitivity to  $\alpha$ -toxin and cellular observed effect of ADAM10- $\alpha$ -toxin interaction (Popov et al., 2015; Shah et al., 2018; Winter et al., 2016).



**Figure 7:** Model illustrating key functions of the  $\alpha$ -toxin (monomer)-ADAM10 (green) complex, facilitating membrane binding of the toxin with subsequent oligomerization and pore formation (von Hoven et al., 2019)

### **5.4.** Post binding signaling

Tissue barrier disruption is a hallmark of staphylococcal infections. This mechanism can be clearly understood when the sheddase activity of ADAM10 is taken in account. Indeed, ADAM10-induced cleavage of E-cadherin and/or its clustering with PLEKHA7 or other membrane proteins results in focal adhesion disruption and characteristically manifest as epithelial damage in skin, lung or vascular endothelium lesions.

Multiple studies have described the important role of  $\alpha$ -toxin invasive infections. Jenkins and colleagues reported an upregulation of *hla* gene in pathogenic invasion process in bacteremia and sepsis model, compared to the nasal colonization model in mice (Jenkins et al., 2015). Using murine skin infection model, it has been evidenced that  $\alpha$ -toxin contributes to delayed wound healing by impairing *S. aureus* clearance and promoting bacterial evasion (Falahee et al., 2017; Goldmann et al., 2016; Putra et al., 2019) and  $\alpha$ -toxin hyper expression has been associated to increased virulence (Chua et al., 2014).

Of note,  $\alpha$ -toxin-induced inflammation implies a modulation of host immune system; one of the immediate consequences of the pore formation across the membrane is ion exchange. On purpose: (i) K<sup>+</sup> ions efflux through  $\alpha$ -toxin pore, and production of IL-1 $\beta$  by macrophages in the local environment, both sensed by node-like receptor (NLRP3), result in the activation of the inflammasome (Gaidt & Hornung, 2018; von Hoven et al., 2019); (ii) rapid influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, an important intracellular signal mediator, triggers several cell-death pathways (Bouillot et al., 2018). Intravascular endothelium impairment through ADAM10-  $\alpha$ -toxin interaction, as well as impeded endothelial repair via platelet aggregation and exacerbated host inflammatory response causing liver injury during sepsis have been also reported as  $\alpha$ -toxin-induced consequences (Powers et al., 2015; Surewaard et al., 2018).

### 6. Staphylococcal exfoliative toxins

Exfoliative toxins are potent serine proteases which possess protease activity (hydrolysis of desmoglein-1, a cell adhesion molecule), cleave desmosomal cell attachment, and are related to cell-cell adhesion disruption in keratinocytes, resulting in exfoliation and blistering (**Figure 8**) (Kim, 2019). In *S. aureus,* there are four antigenically distinct exfoliative toxins in *S. aureus*: ETA, ETB, ETC, ETD (Tam & Torres, 2019); however, only exfoliative toxin A and B (ETA and ETB), two related, yet immunologically distinct serotypes, have particularly been strongly associated with human Staphylococcal Scalded Skin Syndrome (SSSS) (Grama et al., 2016; Staiman et al., 2018) as they present identical dermatologic symptoms (Mariutti et al., 2017). The associated etiology, SSSS, a blistering affection of the epidermis, may take have two different presentations: (i) the bullous impetigo, a localized form, may occur at any age; (ii) conversely, the generalized form which predominantly occurs in neonates and is thought to be due to the underdeveloped immune system and ETs absorption from a primary localized foci and diffusion through bloodstream (Bukowski et al., 2018).



Figure 8: Pathogenesis of cutaneous invasion and blistering (Mariutti et al., 2017)

Epidemiological data on ET-producing *S. aureus* are very variable. ETA (1.5%) and ETB (0.5%) appear to be the most predominant serotypes (Bukowski et al., 2018). However, geographic differences have been shown regarding the incidence of strains producing either ETA alone, ETB alone or both ETA and ETB. ETA appears to be the

dominant serotype in Europe, USA, and Africa whereas ETB is mostly characterized in Japan. Recently, epidemic strain of ETA-producing *S. aureus* has been identified as the cause of skin and soft tissue infection outbreak in neonates (Pimentel de Araujo et al., 2018). A systematic review and meta-analysis in Iran revealed that ETA and ETB were present in respectively 13.05% and 3.6% of *S. aureus* isolates (Memariani et al., 2020). Amirmozafari and colleagues have found a high prevalence of ETA in particular, in both MRSA and MSSA (Amirmozafari et al., 2019).

# SECTION TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 2.1. Bacterial isolates

In this study, 94 *S. aureus* isolates obtained from patients admitted to Near East University Hospital between January 2012 to November 2020 were randomly selected and included in this study. Isolates were processed by subculturing onto blood agar plates to obtain pure cultures at Near East University Hospital Microbiology Laboratory. Bacterial identification as *S. aureus* and resistance to methicillin was initially determined using coagulase tube test and BD Phoenix 100 automated identification and antibiotic susceptibility system (Becton-Dickinson Diagnostic).

Isolates were collected from both inpatient and outpatient group and were recovered from various clinical foci including wound/abscess, blood, broncho-alveolar lavage, nasal swab, tracheal aspiration and sputum.

## 2.2 Coagulase tube test

Individual bacterial colonies were mixed into 1 ml of human plasma. The samples were then incubated at 37°C for 4 h. The samples were reported as positive to coagulase if there were clot formation after the incubation period, thus indicating the presence of *S*. *aureus*. In the absence of clots after the incubation period, the samples were reported coagulase negative staphylococci (**Figure 9**).



**Figure 9:** Coagulase tube test. (top) *S. aureus* showing coagulation after 4h of incubation at 35°C; (bottom) *S. epidermidis*, coagulase negative staphylococcus

## 2.3 Antibiotic susceptibility testing

Resistance to cefoxitin has been confirmed as a surrogate marker for screening of resistance to methicillin in *S. aureus* (Kriegeskorte et al., 2017). In addition to the previous antibiotic susceptibility results from the BD Phoenix 100, all isolates were subjected to cefoxitin disc diffusion test as recommended by the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) (European Committe on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 2020). Testing was carried out on Mueller-Hinton agar plates which were prepared according to the manufacturer instructions. Plates were then inoculated with each isolate using direct colony suspension method by preparing suspension of the micro-organism in saline to the density of 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard.

Antimicrobial disc containing cefoxitin  $(30\mu g)$  were then applied and plates were incubated aerobically at 35°C for 24h. After incubation, interpretation of susceptibility was made as per EUCAST guidelines (EUCAST, 2020). Measurement of the inhibition zone edge made with transmitted light, *S. aureus* isolates were reported respectively as methicillin susceptible if zone diameter >22mm; and as methicillin resistant if zone diameter <22mm (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10: Antibiotic susceptibility testing on Mueller-Hinton agar

### 2.5 DNA extraction for molecular tests

All isolates were cultures on blood agar and incubated overnight at 37°c. The DNA isolation was carried out by heat extraction (boiling method) as described by Barbosa et al in 2016 (Barbosa et al., 2016) with modifications. Briefly, portions of few colonies were suspended into eppendorf tubes containing 500  $\mu$ l of sterile water. The cell suspensions were incubated at 100°C for 15 min in a heat block. The tubes were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 minutes to sediment the debris and the supernatant. The supernatant containing bacterial DNA was transferred to sterile tubes and were stored at -20°C until needed for PCR amplification.

## 2.6. PCR amplification of nuc, hla and exfa genes

All isolates identified as MRSA were subsequently screened for the presence of the staphylococcal thermonuclease gene (*nuc*) specific for *S. aureus* and the following virulence factor genes: staphylococcal  $\alpha$ -toxin gene (*hla*) and exfoliative toxin A gene (*exfA*). The sequence of primers used in this study and the size of the amplicon are given in Table 1

Each 25  $\mu$ l PCR reaction contained: 12.5 $\mu$ l of 2x PCR master mix (Thermo Scientific); 1  $\mu$ l of both forward and reverse primers (at a final concentration of 10pmol/ $\mu$ l) for the target genes (respectively *nuc*, *hla* and *exfa*); 6.5  $\mu$ l of nuclease free PCR grade water (Thermo Scientific) and 4  $\mu$ l of DNA template. Table 2 reports the cycling conditions used for each single PCR amplification.

*S.aureus SCC mec* type IV was used as positive control for both *nuc* and *hla* gene amplification. Nuclease free PCR grade water served as negative control for all the amplification reactions. All primers sequences used in this study have been obtained from previously published studies; *nuc*, *hla* and *exfa* primer sequence were respectively used by Hanssen et al in 2004, Shekarabi et al in 2017 and Suryadevara et al in 2013 (Hanssen et al., 2004; Shekarabi et al., 2017; Suryadevara et al., 2013)

Gene	Primer sequence (5' to 3')	Product size (bp)
nuc-F	GCG ATT GAT GGT GAT ACG GTT	279 bp
nuc-R	AGC CAA GCC TTG ACG AAC TAA AGC	
hla-F	CTG ATT ACT ATC CAA GAA ATT CGA TTG	209 bp
hla-R	CTTT CCA GCC TAC TTT TTT ATC AGT	
exfa-F	GCA GGT GTT GAT TTA GCA TT	93 bp
exfa-R	AG ATG TCC CTA TTT TTG CTG	

# Table 1: Sequence of primers used for PCR amplification

# Table 2: PCR cycling conditions used for each amplification

Genes	Steps	Temperature	Time	Cycles
пис	Initial denaturation	94°c	10 min	1
	Denaturation	94°c	30 secs	
	Annealing	57°c	30 secs	35
	Extension	72°c	90 secs	55
	Final extension	72°c	10 min	
	Hold	4°c	-	1
hla	Initial denaturation	95°c	10 min	1
	Denaturation	94°c	1 min	
	Annealing	57°c	1 min	35
	Extension	72°c	1 min	55
	Final extension	72°c	7 min	
	Hold	4°c	-	1
exfA	Initial denaturation	95°c	10 min	1
	Denaturation	95°c	1 min	
	Annealing	58°c	1 min	35
	Extension	72°c	1 min	
	Final extension	72°c	10 min	
	Hold	4°c	-	1

## 2.7 Agarose gel electrophoresis

The amplified products (11µl) were mixed with 3.5 µl of loading dye and were electrophoresed in 2% agarose gel (W/V) prepared with 1x Tris Borate EDTA (TBE) buffer; ethidium bromide was used as a fluorescent tag at a concentration of  $0.5\mu$ g/ml. A 50 bp DNA ladder was used as DNA molecular weight marker. The separated DNA fragments were visualized and imaged under UV light on a transilluminator (DNA MiniBIS Pro Gel Imaging System.).

# **SECTION THREE: RESULTS**

## 3.1 Patient and sample characteristics

In this study, a total of 76 confirmed MRSA samples collected from patients admitted to Near East University Hospital were investigated. Among the patient groups, forty-four (57.89%) patients were male and thirty-two (42.1%) were female. The patient's age at admission varied from 1 to 99 years with a median at 60 years; details of patient's distribution by gender and age group are shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11: Distribution of patients by gender and age group

Overall MRSA cases occurred in 75% (n=57) of the cases among inpatients, while outpatient MRSA infections accounted for the remaining 25% (n=19). Distribution of MRSA cases by admission type is presented in Figure 12.





Clinical samples were obtained from patients admitted to various departments including: Cardiology (n=14; 18.4%), Pulmonary Infections (n=10; 13.2%), Laboratory (n=8; 10.5%), Anesthesia (n=7; 9.2%), Orthopedics (n=6; 7.9%), both Cardiovascular Surgery, General Surgery and Neurosurgery (n=5; 6.6%), Dermatology (n=4; 5.3%), both Brain Surgery, Gastroenterology and Intensive Care Unit (n=2; 2.6%), and the remaining departments: Geriatrics, Dialysis, Plastic Surgery, Urology, Infectious Disease (n=1; 1.3%) (**Figure 13**).



Figure 13: Distribution of samples by hospital departments

When the distribution of the isolates according to the clinical samples was considered, the isolates were found to be isolated from blood (n=17; 22.4%), abscess/wound (n=19; 25%), tracheal aspirate (n=13; 17.1%), urine (n=4; 5.3%), nasal swab (n=13; 17.1%), catheter tip (n=3; 3.9%), sputum (n=5; 6.6%), bronchoalveolar lavage and urethral sample (n=1; 1.3%) (**Figure 14**).



Figure 14: Distribution of isolates according to the clinical samples

### 3.2 Phenotypic characterization of MRSA

Among the total of 94 *S. aureus* isolates, 80.85% (n=76) were confirmed as MRSA using coagulase tube test and cefoxitin disc diffusion assay.

## 3.3 Amplification of nuc, hla and exfA genes

*S. aureus* specific *nuc* gene encode for the thermostable nuclease of *S. aureus*. Species identification of all isolates were confirmed using PCR amplification of the *nuc* gene. 100% (n=76) of the *S. aureus* isolates presented with the expected amplicon size of 270 bp shown in Figure 15. The presence of *hla* and *exfA* virulence genes was detected respectively in 97.36% (n=76) and 2.63% (n=2) of the samples. For all PCR amplifications performed, there were no other non-specific band, and the amplicon size for *hla* and *exfA* genes were respectively 209 bp and 93 bp, as shown in Figure 15, Figure 16 and Figure 17 respectively.



## nuc gene amplification images

**Figure 15:** PCR showing positive amplification of 270 bp fragments specific for *nuc* gene of *S. aureus*. Lines: 'ladder', DNA molecular weight marker 50bp; 1, negative isolate; 2 to 9, positive isolates; 'pos', positive control; 'neg', negative control.

Following images show amplification of *nuc* gene (270 bp amplicon) in remaining clinical samples with a 50 bp DNA molecular weight marker.





**Figure 16:** PCR showing positive amplification of 209 bp fragments specific for *hla* gene of *S. aureus*. Line: 'ladder', DNA molecular weight marker 50bp; 1 to 15 and 17, positive isolates; 16, negative isolate; 'pos': positive control; 'neg': negative control.

Following images show amplification of *hla* gene (209 bp amplicon) in the remaining clinical samples with a 50 bp DNA molecular weight marker.





# *exfa* gene amplification images



**Figure 17:** PCR showing positive amplification of 93 bp fragments specific for *exfa* gene of *S. aureus*. Lines: 'ladder', DNA molecular weight marker 50bp; 4, positive isolate; 1 to 3 and 5 to 13: negative isolates; 'pos': positive control; 'neg': negative control.

Following images show amplification of *exfa* gene (93 bp amplicon) in remaining clinical samples with a 50 bp DNA molecular weight marker.



# **SECTION FOUR: DISCUSSION**

*S. aureus* is a major human microbiota inhabitant as well as a potent pathogen capable of causing a wide range of diseases (Tong et al., 2015). In hospital settings, *S. aureus*, including multi-drug resistant strains such as MRSA, is one of the most common cause of hospital-acquired infections (Shuguang Li et al., 2016; M. Wang et al., 2019); thus treatment is still challenging. Moreover, the bacterium is endowed with a various set of toxins and virulence determinants which elevate its pathogenicity (Tam & Torres, 2019).

In this study, patients' demographic data such as age, gender and relevant clinical information such as hospital service and sample source, were collected from the hospital medical record database. Male patients were overall the most affected subgroup. They represented the highest number of cases with 57.89% (n=44); and age group of 61 to 70 years had the highest number of male patients (n=14; 18.42%). MRSA infections were found to be occurring less frequently in the age group 60 years and below. With regard to the distribution of MRSA infections among patients, the data analysis showed a threefold increase in occurrence of MRSA infections among inpatient subgroup (irrespective to the gender), in comparison to outpatient subgroup; indeed, seventy five percent (n=57) of MRSA infections occurred in inpatients, versus only twenty five percent (n=19) in outpatients. The median age within this group was 66 year. Similar pattern have been described in a recent study where inpatients subgroup accounted for the half of MRSA acquisition (Auguet et al., 2018). Consistent with the results Rahimi & Shokoohizadeh reported in their study in 2016, which focused on characterization of MRSA among inpatients and outpatients, our study found similar patterns regarding the distribution among patients with respect to gender and inpatients/outpatients subgroup (Rahimi & Shokoohizadeh, 2016).

Inpatient care status is correlated with hospital length of stay, thus prolonged exposure to medical procedures such as antibiotic therapy, invasive procedures and devices, increased likelihood to develop a hospital-acquired infection, particularly MRSA infection and augmented cost (Hutzschenreuter et al., 2018). Lakhundi & Zhang, reported

old age, long hospital stay, invasive procedures and colonization stauts as risk factors for MRSA infection (Lakhundi & Zhang, 2018). The first three characteristics are shared within our inpatient group, however, regarding colonization status which has not been investigated in this study, distinguishing whether an infection is caused by a commensal strain or by a hospital-acquired strain is therefore complex. In the same regards, MRSA colonized or infected patients are reservoirs for subsequent transmission within health care facilities (Chow et al., 2017). Standard prevention of transmission procedures should be applied such as systematic screening of MRSA upon patient admission in a hospital, since in most of the cases, infecting strains genotypes were found to match commensal strains one in patients (Lakhundi & Zhang, 2018).

Our study reported a predominance of wound-abscess (n=19; 25%) samples derived from skin foci. This may be due to the fact that primary exposure of S. aureus to host tissue is made through breach into skin and/or mucosal surface. One study reported S. aureus, mostly MRSA, to be responsible for more than half of investigated skin infections and identified the presence of abscess as a risk factor for MRSA (Valderrama-Beltrán et al., 2019). S. aureus is the major cause of SSSI (Esposito et al., 2016; Tong et al., 2015). Establishment of S. aureus skin infection provides a portal of entry for the bacteria and is further followed by invasive spread into blood, resulting in bacteremia (Horino & Hori, 2020). Blood samples collected in this study accounted for the second most predominant source which yielded MRSA, with 22.4% (n=17). The highest number of cases (70.5%; 12 of 17) of MRSA bacteremia was reported among patients of 61 year and above. A similar prevalence was reported for the same age group in previous studies (Jayaweera et al., 2017; Jokinen et al., 2018). Such occurrence of MRSA bacteremia in elderly patients is alarming. Bacteremia in elderly patients is associated with high mortality especially in patients with comorbidity factors including malignant diseases and cardiovascular conditions, as well as increased likelihood to develop complications (Dayan et al., 2016; Horino & Hori, 2020). A timely identification of causative strains and source of infection as well as a comprehensive antibiotic resistance profiling are mandatory to guide proper antibiotic therapy. MRSA infections were predominantly found in the cardiology department (n=14; 18.4%) and pulmonary infections department (n=10; 13.2%)

Investigation of molecular determinants in general, and more particularly, characterization of virulence factors is an important field of research concerning *S. aureus* and its related infections. Moreover, the potential extent of a condition is likely dependent on which toxins and associated virulence factors are involved in the pathogenesis. *S. aureus* produces a well-characterized set of toxins which can be classified into three groups based on their functions, they are namely: (i) cytotoxins, (ii) staphylococcal superantigens, (iii) cytotoxic enzymes (Tam & Torres, 2019). This study was focused on two members of staphylococcal toxins, one from the cytotoxins group:  $\alpha$ -hemolysin; the other from the cytotoxin enzymes group: exfoliative toxin A. Prevalence of toxin gene carriage in MRSA isolates was investigated using molecular techniques.

Several inflammatory infections are caused by damage to skin epithelium. These damage may be either the result of dermonecrotic activity exhibited by cytotoxins, or desquamative action of exfoliative toxins (Berube & Wardenburg, 2013; Mariutti et al., 2017). Seventy-four (97.36%) of the isolates in this study were found to be positive for hla gene. The gene is encoded in the core genome; it must therefore be, as demonstrated by several studies, highly conserved within the species and carried by the large majority of strains (Romaniszyn et al., 2015; Tabor et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2016, 2018). αhemolysin is a potent pore forming toxin involved in several mechanism; and it has been implicated in the severity of SSSIs, sepsis, multi organ toxicity as well as wide range cellspecific toxicity (Powers et al., 2015; Surewaard et al., 2018). α-hemolysin has been described to impair wound healing in animal models as well as to promote S. aureus internalization into mast cells thereby subverting a major component of both innate and adaptive immunity (Goldmann et al., 2016; Putra et al., 2019). Jenkins et al., in 2015, investigated whether transition from commensal S. aureus to pathogen was consistent with specific virulence gene upregulation. It has been proven in experimental models that expression of *hla* is upregulated during infective episode with invasive feature, suggesting the role of this toxin in the course of infections (Jenkins et al., 2015). Furthermore, both Putra et al. and Jenkins et al. correlated the role of  $\alpha$ -hemolysin in pathogenesis of infection by using mutant strains. They demonstrated reduced virulence attributable to the lack of toxin in mutant strains, compared to wild type strains. In a study examining the contribution of virulence determinants during skin infection model in mouse, using ST93 CA-MRSA and comparing to other clones, Chua et al. reported that hypervirulence

observed in ST93 CA-MRSA clone was most likely due to increased expression of  $\alpha$ -hemolysin (Chua et al., 2014). Interestingly, the presence of a given gene does not always correlate with gene integrity or expression of a functional protein, which also applied for  $\alpha$ -hemolysin. After sequence typing of *hla* gene, a study reported non- expression by a variant of the toxin due to a stop codon mutation (Sharma-Kuinkel et al., 2015).

For the prevention of *S. aureus* infections or at least, reduction of their severity,  $\alpha$ -hemolysin has been regarded as the reasonable target. Pharmacological strategies targeting the  $\beta$ -PFT have been developed (Escajadillo & Nizet, 2018). In experimental models, passive immunization with monoclonal antibodies have yielded satisfactory results. The prophylactic approach used in a recent study with anti- $\alpha$ -hemolysin antibody MEDI 4893 monoclonal antibody showed significant reduction of toxin-mediated mortality in treated mice (Surewaard et al., 2018).

Conversely to  $\alpha$ -hemolysin which cannot be directly associated with a particular clinical entity, exfoliative toxin A has been strongly characterized in patients with SSSS. Only two (2.63%) of the MRSA isolates tested in the current study have been found positive to exfoliative toxin A. One of the positive isolates has been recovered from nasal swabs in a 55 years male patient; the second isolate was recovered from wound-abscess of a 2 years female in plastic surgery department. Due to the severe infectious features displayed by S. aureus producing ETA, one would not expect to find such virulent strains in high prevalence. In a recent study, ETA gene was found to be present in approximately 1.5% of S. aureus strains (Bukowski et al., 2018). Our results are consistent with the one reported by several other studies. The investigation of ETA prevalence made by multiple studies has yielded very low or null results (Shipeng Li et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2016, 2018). However more recently, X. Li et al. and Salas et al. reported significantly high carriage of eta gene of 57.3% in China and 73.13% in Spain respectively (X. Li et al., 2019; Salas et al., 2020). A comparison of study relatedness between this current study and the study of Salas et al. in 2020, showing similar sample size and isolate characteristics, could suggest that *eta* gene distribution is correlated with specific geographic location and clonal lineage (X. Wang et al., 2016).

Although ideas hypothesized initially have yielded useful information about the toxin gene carriage pattern, this work suffers from a number of limitations notably related

to the study design. In fact, it is a single center study which focused on 74 clinical isolates; therefore the results above-presented may only reflect MRSA dynamics in the experimented hospital and may not be generalizable to other hospital settings in the country. Multicenter studies involving larger sample size and targeting all classes of *S. aureus* virulence determinants are therefore mandatory. Furthermore, this work has also been limited by the lack of susceptibility testing to other antibiotics. The increasing trend of multi drug resistant (MDR) MRSA renders difficult any attempt of treatment; guiding proper antibiotic therapy may help to reduce length of hospitalization as well as cost of care. Regarding molecular epidemiology, the sole phenotype-based identification of MRSA using cefoxitin disk diffusion, relevant for the study design but yielded limited information about genotypic mechanisms driving such resistance. Future studies that focus on *mecA* gene and its homologous genes (*mecB*, *mecD*, *mecC*) as well as *SCCmec* typing, *S. aureus*-specific *spa* typing and sequence typing could sure help investigate genetic characteristics of disease-causing strains.

# **SECTION FIVE: CONCLUSION**

*S. aureus* represents a major threat to global public health, both in high- and lowincome countries. The emergence of various resistance traits and the rising incidence of unusually severe infections further complicate the challenge. In this study, molecular biology techniques were used to characterize toxin carriage patterns in MRSA clinical isolates obtained from patients over a period of 8 years at Near East University Hospital. The outcome of the experimental investigation has led to the conclusion that MRSA strains circulation in the hospital setting carry both *hla* and *eta* genes. Besides, study results indicated that inpatients were likely to be the most affected subgroup, prompting the development of an effective surveillance strategy.

Future investigations are necessary to validate the conclusions presented in this study. Researchers should therefore seek to address this issue in order to develop better understanding of the virulence patterns of *S. aureus* strains present in TRNC. The use of whole genome sequencing, for inter-strains genome comparison purpose as well as the toxin gene and antibiotic resistance pattern screening are among others areas that are yet to be explored.

Overall, this work represents the first study investigating hemolytic and epidermolytic toxin carriage and is a step further towards a more profound understanding of molecular characteristics associated with *S. aureus* strains circulating in hospitals in TRNC. As a result, this study can help develop better strategies, for not only treatment, but also for the prevention and management of infections.

## REFERENCES

- Akhtar Danesh, L., Saiedi Nejad, Z., Sarmadian, H., Fooladvand, S., van Belkum, A., & Ghaznavi-Rad, E. (2020). Elimination of Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage in intensive care patients lowers infection rates. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 39(2), 333–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03729-2
- Alibayov, B., Baba-Moussa, L., Sina, H., Zdeňková, K., & Demnerová, K. (2014). Staphylococcus aureus mobile genetic elements. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 41(8), 5005–5018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-014-3367-3
- Amirmozafari, N., Abbasi, P., & Mojtahedi, A. (2019). The prevalence of antibiotic resistance and exfoliative toxin A gene in Staphylococcus aureus strains isolated from patients and healthy individuals. *Gene Reports*, 15(January), 100369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genrep.2019.100369
- Andrade-Figueiredo, M., & Leal-Balbino, T. C. (2016). Clonal diversity and epidemiological characteristics of Staphylococcus aureus: High prevalence of oxacillin-susceptible mecA-positive Staphylococcus aureus (OS-MRSA) associated with clinical isolates in Brazil. *BMC Microbiology*, 16(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-016-0733-4
- Aryee, A., & Edgeworth, J. D. (2016). Carriage, Clinical Microbiology and Transmission of Staphylococcus aureus. In *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education* (Vol. 37, Issue October, pp. 1–19). https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2016\_5
- Auguet, O. T., Stabler, R. A., Betley, J., Preston, M. D., Dhaliwal, M., Gaunt, M., Ioannou,
  A., Desai, N., Karadag, T., Batra, R., Otter, J. A., Marbach, H., Clark, T. G., &
  Edgeworth, J. D. (2018). Frequent Undetected Ward-Based Methicillin-Resistant
  Staphylococcus aureus Transmission Linked to Patient Sharing between Hospitals. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 66(6), 840–848. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix901
- Aung, M. S., Urushibara, N., Kawaguchiya, M., Sumi, A., Shinagawa, M., Takahashi, S.,
  & Kobayashi, N. (2019). Clonal diversity and genetic characteristics of methicillinresistant staphylococcus aureus isolates from a tertiary care hospital in Japan.

 Microbial
 Drug
 Resistance,
 25(8),
 1164–1175.

 https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2018.0468

 <

- Austin, E. D., Sullivan, S. B., Whittier, S., Lowy, F. D., & Uhlemann, A.-C. (2016). Peripheral Intravenous Catheter Placement Is an Underrecognized Source of Staphylococcus aureus Bloodstream Infection. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, 3(2), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofw072
- Baig, S., Johannesen, T. B., Overballe-Petersen, S., Larsen, J., Larsen, A. R., & Stegger,
  M. (2018). Novel SCCmec type XIII (9A) identified in an ST152 methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 61(March), 74– 76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.03.013
- BARBER, M. (1961). Methicillin-resistant staphylococci. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 14(February), 385–393. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.14.4.385
- Barbosa, C., Nogueira, S., Gadanho, M., & Chaves, S. (2016). DNA extraction: Finding the most suitable method. In *Molecular Microbial Diagnostic Methods: Pathways to Implementation for the Food and Water Industries*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-416999-9.00007-1
- Barcudi, D., Sosa, E. J., Lamberghini, R., Garnero, A., Tosoroni, D., Decca, L., Gonzalez, L., Kuyuk, M. A., Lopez, T., Herrero, I., Cortes, P., Figueroa, M., Egea, A. L., Gagetti, P., Fernandez Do Porto, D. A., Corso, A., Turjanski, A. G., Bocco, J. L., & Sola, C. (2020). MRSA dynamic circulation between the community and the hospital setting: New insights from a cohort study. *Journal of Infection*, 80(1), 24–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2019.10.001
- Bassetti, S., Bischoff, W. E., & Sherertz, R. J. (2005). Outbreak of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Infection Associated with an Outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 40(4), 633–634. https://doi.org/10.1086/427151
- Becker, K. (2018). Pathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus. In Staphylococcus aureus. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-809671-0.00002-4
- Bennett, M. R., & Thomsen, I. P. (2020). Epidemiological and Clinical Evidence for the Role of Toxins in S. aureus Human Disease. *Toxins*, 12(6), 1–19.

https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins12060408

- Berla-Kerzhner, E., Biber, A., Parizade, M., Taran, D., Rahav, G., Regev-Yochay, G., & Glikman, D. (2017). Clinical outcomes and treatment approach for communityassociated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA) infections in Israel. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 36(1), 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-016-2789-3
- Berube, B. J., & Wardenburg, J. B. (2013). Staphylococcus aureus α-toxin: Nearly a century of intrigue. *Toxins*, 5(6), 1140–1166. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins5061140
- Bischoff, W. E., Wallis, M. L., Tucker, B. K., Reboussin, B. A., Pfaller, M. A., Hayden, F. G., & Sherertz, R. J. (2006). "Gesundheit!" sneezing, common colds, allergies, and Staphylococcus aureus dispersion. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 194(8), 1119– 1126. https://doi.org/10.1086/507908
- Bonell, A., Azarrafiy, R., Huong, V. T. L., Le Viet, T., Phu, V. D., Dat, V. Q., Wertheim, H., Van Doorn, H. R., Lewycka, S., & Nadjm, B. (2019). A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Ventilator-associated Pneumonia in Adults in Asia: An Analysis of National Income Level on Incidence and Etiology. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 68(3), 511–518. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciy543
- Bouillot, S., Reboud, E., & Huber, P. (2018). Functional consequences of calcium influx promoted by bacterial pore-forming Toxins. *Toxins*, 10(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins10100387
- Bukowski, M., Wladyka, B., Dubin, A., & Dubin, G. (2018). The Staphylococcal Exfoliative Toxins. In *Pet-to-Man Travelling Staphylococci: A World in Progress*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813547-1.00010-8
- C Reygaert, W. (2018). An overview of the antimicrobial resistance mechanisms of bacteria. *AIMS Microbiology*, 4(3), 482–501. https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.3.482
- Carretto, E., Visiello, R., & Nardini, P. (2018). Methicillin Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. In *Pet-to-Man Travelling Staphylococci: A World in Progress*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813547-1.00017-0

- Chang, C. H., Chen, S. Y., Lu, J. J., Chang, C. J., Chang, Y., & Hsieh, P. H. (2017). Nasal colonization and bacterial contamination of mobile phones carried by medical staff in the operating room. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(5), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175811
- Chaudry, M. S., Gislason, G. H., Kamper, A. L., Rix, M., Larsen, A. R., Petersen, A., Andersen, P. S., Skov, R. L., Fosbøl, E. L., Westh, H., Schønheyder, H. C., Benfield, T. L., Fowler, V. G., Torp-Pedersen, C., & Bruun, N. E. (2019). Increased risk of Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia in hemodialysis—A nationwide study. *Hemodialysis International*, 23(2), 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.12728
- Choo, E. J. (2017). Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in nosocomial infections. *Infection and Chemotherapy*, 49(2), 143–144. https://doi.org/10.3947/ic.2017.49.2.143
- Chow, A., Lim, V. W., Khan, A., Pettigrew, K., Lye, D. C. B., Kanagasabai, K., Phua, K., Krishnan, P., Ang, B., Marimuthu, K., Hon, P. Y., Koh, J., Leong, I., Parkhill, J., Hsu, L. Y., & Holden, M. T. G. (2017). MRSA transmission dynamics among interconnected acute, intermediate-term, and long-term healthcare facilities in Singapore. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 64(Suppl 2), S76–S81. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix072
- Christensen, L. D., Skadborg, M. B., Mortensen, A. H., Mortensen, C., Møller, J. K., Lemming, L., Høgsberg, I., Petersen, S. E., & Buus, N. H. (2018). Bacteriology of the Buttonhole Cannulation Tract in Hemodialysis Patients: A Prospective Cohort Study. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, 72(2), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.01.055
- Chua, K. Y. L., Monk, I. R., Lin, Y. H., Seemann, T., Tuck, K. L., Porter, J. L., Stepnell, J., Coombs, G. W., Davies, J. K., Stinear, T. P., & Howden, B. P. (2014). Hyperexpression of -hemolysin explains enhanced virulence of sequence type 93 community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *BMC Microbiology*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-14-31
- Chua, K. Y. L., Stinear, T. P., & Howden, B. P. (2013). Functional genomics of staphylococcus aureus. *Briefings in Functional Genomics*, 12(4), 305–315.

https://doi.org/10.1093/bfgp/elt006

- Creech, C. B., Al-Zubeidi, D. N., & Fritz, S. A. (2015). Prevention of Recurrent Staphylococcal Skin Infections. *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, 29(3), 429–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idc.2015.05.007
- Cuny, C., Wieler, L., & Witte, W. (2015). Livestock-Associated MRSA: The Impact on Humans. *Antibiotics*, 4(4), 521–543. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics4040521
- Dayan, G. H., Mohamed, N., Scully, I. L., Cooper, D., Begier, E., Eiden, J., Jansen, K. U., Gurtman, A., & Anderson, A. S. (2016). Staphylococcus aureus : the current state of disease, pathophysiology and strategies for prevention. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 15(11), 1373–1392. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2016.1179583
- Du, Y., Liu, L., Zhang, C., & Zhang, Y. (2018). Two residues in staphylococcus aureus α-hemolysin related to hemolysis and self-assembly. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, 11, 1271–1274. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S167779
- Dupieux, C., Bouchiat, C., Larsen, A. R., Pichon, B., Holmes, M., Teale, C., Edwards, G., Hill, R., Decousser, J. W., Trouillet-Assant, S., Petersen, A., Skov, R., Kearns, A., & Laurent, F. (2017). Detection of mecC-positive Staphylococcus aureus: What to expect from immunological tests targeting PBP2a? *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 55(6), 1961–1963. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00068-17
- Duployez, C., Le Guern, R., Tinez, C., Lejeune, A., Robriquet, L., Six, S., Loïez, C., & Wallet, F. (2020). Panton-Valentine Leukocidin–Secreting Staphylococcus aureus Pneumonia Complicating COVID-19. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 26(8), 1939– 1941. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2608.201413
- ecdc. (2013). Summary : Point prevalence survey of healthcare- associated infections and antimicrobial use in European hospitals 2011 2012 Facts in brief Point prevalence survey of healthcare- associated infections and antimicrobial use in European hospitals 2011 2. *Ecdc, June 2009*, 1–5.
- Escajadillo, T., & Nizet, V. (2018). Pharmacological targeting of pore-forming toxins as adjunctive therapy for invasive bacterial infection. *Toxins*, *10*(12), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins10120542

- Esposito, S., Noviello, S., & Leone, S. (2016). Epidemiology and microbiology of skin and soft tissue infections. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*, 29(2), 109–115. https://doi.org/10.1097/QCO.00000000000239
- EUCAST. (2020). Testing Breakpoint tables for interpretation of MICs and zone diameters. *Https://Www.Eucast.Org/Ast\_of\_Bacteria/*, 0–77. https://www.eucast.org/fileadmin/src/media/PDFs/EUCAST\_files/Breakpoint\_table s/v\_10.0\_Breakpoint\_Tables.pdf
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). (2016). Summary of the latest data on antibiotic resistance in the European Union. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *November*. http://atlas.ecdc.europa.eu/public/%0Ahttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25534 811
- European Committe on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. (2020). Antimicrobial susceptibility testing EUCAST disk diffusion method Version 8.0 January. *European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Deseases*, 0(January), 1–21. http://www.eucast.org/fileadmin/src/media/PDFs/EUCAST\_files/Disk\_test\_docum ents/2020\_manuals/Manual\_v\_8.0\_EUCAST\_Disk\_Test\_2020.pdf
- Falahee, P. C., Anderson, L. S., Reynolds, M. B., Pirir, M., McLaughlin, B. E., Dillen, C. A., Cheung, A. L., Miller, L. S., & Simon, S. I. (2017). α-Toxin Regulates Local Granulocyte Expansion from Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells in Staphylococcus aureus– Infected Wounds . *The Journal of Immunology*, 199(5), 1772–1782. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1700649
- Fisher, E. L., Otto, M., & Cheung, G. Y. C. (2018). Basis of Virulence in Enterotoxin-Mediated Staphylococcal Food Poisoning. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9(MAR), 1– 18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00436
- Foster, T. J. (2017). Antibiotic resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. Current status and future prospects. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 41(3), 430–449. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fux007
- Foster, T. J. (2019). The MSCRAMM Family of Cell-Wall-Anchored Surface Proteins of Gram-Positive Cocci. In *Trends in Microbiology* (Vol. 27, Issue 11, pp. 927–941).

Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2019.06.007

- Foster, T. J., & Geoghegan, J. A. (2015). Staphylococcus aureus. In *Molecular Medical Microbiology* (Vols. 2–3, pp. 655–674). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-397169-2.00037-8
- Gagnaire, J., Botelho-Nevers, E., Martin-Simoes, P., Morel, J., Zéni, F., Maillard, N., Mariat, C., Haddar, C. H., Carricajo, A., Fonsale, N., Grattard, F., Pozzetto, B., Laurent, F., Berthelot, P., & Verhoeven, P. O. (2019). Interplay of nasal and rectal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus in intensive care unit patients. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 38(10), 1811–1819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03613-z
- Gaidt, M. M., & Hornung, V. (2018). The NLRP3 Inflammasome Renders Cell Death Pro-inflammatory. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 430(2), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2017.11.013
- Galal, Y. S., Youssef, M. R. L., & Ibrahiem, S. K. (2016). Ventilator-associated pneumonia: Incidence, risk factors and outcome in paediatric intensive care units at cairo university hospital. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 10(6), SC06– SC08. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2016/18570.7920
- Gaynes, R. (2017). The Discovery of Penicillin—New Insights After More Than 75 Years of Clinical Use. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 23(5), 849–853. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2305.161556
- Geoghegan, J. A., Irvine, A. D., & Foster, T. J. (2018). Staphylococcus aureus and Atopic Dermatitis: A Complex and Evolving Relationship. *Trends in Microbiology*, 26(6), 484–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2017.11.008
- George, S., Leasure, A. R., & Horstmanshof, D. (2016). Effectiveness of decolonization with chlorhexidine and mupirocin in reducing surgical site infections: A systematic review. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 35(4), 204–222. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000192
- Gherardi, G., Di Bonaventura, G., & Savini, V. (2018). Staphylococcal Taxonomy. In Petto-Man Travelling Staphylococci: A World in Progress. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813547-1.00001-7

- Gnanamani, A., Hariharan, P., & Paul-Satyaseela, M. (2017). Staphylococcus aureus: Overview of Bacteriology, Clinical Diseases, Epidemiology, Antibiotic Resistance and Therapeutic Approach. *Frontiers in Staphylococcus Aureus*. https://doi.org/10.5772/67338
- Goldmann, O., Tuchscherr, L., Rohde, M., & Medina, E. (2016). α-Hemolysin enhances
  Staphylococcus aureus internalization and survival within mast cells by modulating
  the expression of β1 integrin. *Cellular Microbiology*, 18(6), 807–819.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.12550
- Gong, J., Li, D., Yan, J., Liu, Y., Li, D., Dong, J., Gao, Y., Sun, T., & Yang, G. (2014).
  The accessory gene regulator (agr) controls Staphylococcus aureus virulence in a murine intracranial abscesses model. *Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 18(5), 501–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjid.2014.03.005
- Grama, A., Mărginean, O. C., Meliţ, L. E., & Georgescu, A. M. (2016). Staphylococcal Scalded Skin Syndrome in Child. A Case Report and a Review from Literature. *The Journal of Critical Care Medicine*, 2(4), 192–197. https://doi.org/10.1515/jccm-2016-0028
- Grundstad, M. L., Parlet, C. P., Kwiecinski, J. M., Kavanaugh, J. S., Crosby, H. A., Cho, Y.-S., Heilmann, K., Diekema, D. J., & Horswill, A. R. (2019). Quorum Sensing, Virulence, and Antibiotic Resistance of USA100 Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Isolates . *MSphere*, 4(4), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.00553-19
- Guo, H., Hall, J. W., Yang, J., & Ji, Y. (2017). The SaeRS Two-Component System Controls Survival of Staphylococcus aureus in Human Blood through Regulation of Coagulase. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 7(MAY), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00204
- Haag, A. F., & Bagnoli, F. (2015). The Role of Two-Component Signal Transduction Systems in Staphylococcus aureus Virulence Regulation. In Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education (Vol. 37, Issue October, pp. 145–198). https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2015\_5019

- Hanssen, A. M., Kjeldsen, G., & Ericson Sollid, J. U. (2004). Local Variants of Staphylococcal Cassette Chromosome mec in Sporadic Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus and Methicillin-Resistant Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci: Evidence of Horizontal Gene Transfer? *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 48(1), 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.48.1.285-296.2004
- Harkins, C. P., Pichon, B., Doumith, M., Parkhill, J., Westh, H., Tomasz, A., de Lencastre,
  H., Bentley, S. D., Kearns, A. M., & Holden, M. T. G. (2017). Methicillin-resistant
  Staphylococcus aureus emerged long before the introduction of methicillin into
  clinical practice. *Genome Biology*, 18(1), 130. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-0171252-9
- Hayakawa, K., Yamaguchi, T., Ono, D., Suzuki, H., Kamiyama, J., Taguchi, S., & Kiyota,
  K. (2020). Two cases of intrafamilial transmission of community-acquired methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus producing both PVL and TSST-1 causing fatal necrotizing pneumonia and sepsis. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, *13*, 2921–2927. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S262123
- Henderson, A., & Nimmo, G. R. (2018). Control of healthcare- and community-associated MRSA: Recent progress and persisting challenges. *British Medical Bulletin*, 125(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldx046
- Hepburn, L., Hijnen, D. J., Sellman, B. R., Mustelin, T., Sleeman, M. A., May, R. D., & Strickland, I. (2017). The complex biology and contribution of Staphylococcus aureus in atopic dermatitis, current and future therapies. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 177(1), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.15139
- Hiramatsu, K., Katayama, Y., Matsuo, M., Sasaki, T., Morimoto, Y., Sekiguchi, A., & Baba, T. (2014). Multi-drug-resistant Staphylococcus aureus and future chemotherapy. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, 20(10), 593–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiac.2014.08.001
- Hogan, P. G., Rodriguez, M., Spenner, A. M., Brenneisen, J. M., Boyle, M. G., Sullivan,
  M. L., & Fritz, S. A. (2018). Impact of Systemic Antibiotics on Staphylococcus aureus Colonization and Recurrent Skin Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 66(2), 191–197. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix754

- Horino, T., & Hori, S. (2020). Metastatic infection during Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, 26(2), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiac.2019.10.003
- Hutzschenreuter, L., Flessa, S., Dittmann, K., & Hübner, N. O. (2018). Costs of outpatient and inpatient MRSA screening and treatment strategies for patients at elective hospital admission - A decision tree analysis. *Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-018-0442-x
- Jayaweera, A. S., Karunarathne, M., Kumbukgolla, W. W., & Thushari, H. L. (2017). Prevalence of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteremia at Teaching Hospital Anuradhapura, Sri Lanka. *Ceylon Medical Journal*, 62(2), 110. https://doi.org/10.4038/cmj.v62i2.8478
- Jenkins, A., An Diep, B., Mai, T. T., Vo, N. H., Warrener, P., Suzich, J., Kendall Stover, C., & Sellman, B. R. (2015). Differential expression and roles of Staphylococcus aureus virulence determinants during colonization and disease. *MBio*, 6(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02272-14
- Jenul, C., & Horswill, A. R. (2019). Regulation of Staphylococcus aureus Virulence . *Gram-Positive Pathogens*, 6(1), 669–686. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781683670131.ch41
- Jokinen, E., Laine, J., Huttunen, R., Lyytikäinen, O., Vuento, R., Vuopio, J., & Syrjänen, J. (2018). Trends in incidence and resistance patterns of Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia\*. *Infectious Diseases*, 50(1), 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/23744235.2017.1405276
- Joo, E.-J., Park, D. A., Kang, C.-I., Chung, D. R., Song, J.-H., Lee, S. M., & Peck, K. R. (2019). Reevaluation of the impact of methicillin-resistance on outcomes in patients with Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia and endocarditis. *The Korean Journal of Internal Medicine*, 34(6), 1347–1362. https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2017.098
- Kang, S. S., Sim, J. R., Yun, C. H., & Han, S. H. (2016). Lipoteichoic acids as a major virulence factor causing inflammatory responses via Toll-like receptor 2. Archives of Pharmacal Research, 39(11), 1519–1529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-016-0804-y
- Karatas, M., Saylan, S., Kostakoglu, U., & Yilmaz, G. (2016). An assessment of ventilator-associated pneumonias and risk factors identified in the intensive care unit. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 32(4), 817–822. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.324.10381
- Kaspar, U., Kriegeskorte, A., Schubert, T., Peters, G., Rudack, C., Pieper, D. H., Wos-Oxley, M., & Becker, K. (2016). The culturome of the human nose habitats reveals individual bacterial fingerprint patterns. *Environmental Microbiology*, 18(7), 2130– 2142. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12891
- Kateete, D. P., Bwanga, F., Seni, J., Mayanja, R., Kigozi, E., Mujuni, B., Ashaba, F. K., Baluku, H., Najjuka, C. F., Källander, K., Rutebemberwa, E., Asiimwe, B. B., & Joloba, M. L. (2019). CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA coexist in community and hospital settings in Uganda. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 8(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-019-0551-1
- Kevorkijan, B. K., Petrovič, Ž., Kocuvan, A., & Rupnik, M. (2018). MRSA diversity and the emergence of LA-MRSA in a large teaching hospital in Slovenia. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica, 66(2), 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1556/030.65.2018.052
- Khan, T. M., Kok, Y. L., Bukhsh, A., Lee, L.-H., Chan, K.-G., & Goh, B.-H. (2018).
  Incidence of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) in burn intensive care unit: a systematic review. *Germs*, 8(3), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.18683/germs.2018.1138
- Kim, M. K. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus Toxins: From Their Pathogenic Roles to Antivirulence Therapy Using Natural Products. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 24(3), 424–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-019-0059-9
- Kirmusaolu, S. (2017). MRSA and MSSA: The Mechanism of Methicillin Resistance and the Influence of Methicillin Resistance on Biofilm Phenotype of Staphylococcus aureus. In *The Rise of Virulence and Antibiotic Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/65452

- Klein, S., Menz, M. D., Zanger, P., Heeg, K., & Nurjadi, D. (2019). Increase in the prevalence of Panton–Valentine leukocidin and clonal shift in community-onset methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus causing skin and soft-tissue infections in the Rhine-Neckar Region, Germany, 2012–2016. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 53(3), 261–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018.10.026
- Kong, C., Neoh, H. M., & Nathan, S. (2016). Targeting Staphylococcus aureus toxins: A potential form of anti-virulence therapy. *Toxins*, 8(3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins8030072
- Kotpal, R., Krishna Prakash, S., Bhalla, P., Dewan, R., & Kaur, R. (2016). Incidence and Risk Factors of Nasal Carriage of Staphylococcus aureus in HIV-Infected Individuals in Comparison to HIV-Uninfected Individuals: A Case-Control Study. *Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care*, 15(2), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325957414554005
- Kourtis, A. P., Hatfield, K., Baggs, J., Mu, Y., See, I., Epson, E., Nadle, J., Kainer, M. A., Dumyati, G., Petit, S., Ray, S. M., Emerging Infections Program MRSA author group, Ham, D., Capers, C., Ewing, H., Coffin, N., McDonald, L. C., Jernigan, J., & Cardo, D. (2019). Vital Signs: Epidemiology and Recent Trends in Methicillin-Resistant and in Methicillin-Susceptible Staphylococcus aureus Bloodstream Infections United States. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 68(9), 214–219. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6809e1
- Kriegeskorte, A., Idelevich, E. A., Schlattmann, A., Layer, F., Strommenger, B., Denis, O., Paterson, G. K., Holmes, M. A., Werner, G., & Becker, K. (2017). Comparison of Different Phenotypic Approaches To Screen and Detect mecC-Harboring Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 56(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00826-17
- Krismer, B., Weidenmaier, C., Zipperer, A., & Peschel, A. (2017). The commensal lifestyle of Staphylococcus aureus and its interactions with the nasal microbiota. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 15(11), 675–687. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.104

- Krutikov, M., Rahman, A., & Tiberi, S. (2019). Necrotizing pneumonia (aetiology, clinical features and management). *Current Opinion in Pulmonary Medicine*, 25(3), 225–232. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCP.000000000000571
- Lakhundi, S., & Zhang, K. (2018). Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus: Molecular Characterization, Evolution, and Epidemiology. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 31(4), 1–103. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00020-18
- Lamanna, O., Bongiorno, D., Bertoncello, L., Grandesso, S., Mazzucato, S., Pozzan, G.
  B., Cutrone, M., Chirico, M., Baesso, F., Brugnaro, P., Cafiso, V., Stefani, S., & Campanile, F. (2017). Rapid containment of nosocomial transmission of a rare community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA) clone, responsible for the Staphylococcal Scalded Skin Syndrome (SSSS). *Italian Journal of Pediatrics*, 43(1), 4–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-016-0323-y
- Larsen, J., Stegger, M., Andersen, P. S., Petersen, A., Larsen, A. R., Westh, H., Agersø, Y., Fetsch, A., Kraushaar, B., Käsbohrer, A., Feβler, A. T., Schwarz, S., Cuny, C., Witte, W., Butaye, P., Denis, O., Haenni, M., Madec, J. Y., Jouy, E., ... Skov, R. L. (2016). Evidence for Human Adaptation and Foodborne Transmission of Livestock-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 63(10), 1349–1352. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw532
- Laux, C., Peschel, A., & Krismer, B. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus Colonization of the Human Nose and Interaction with Other Microbiome Members. In *Gram-Positive Pathogens* (pp. 723–730). ASM Press. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781683670131.ch45
- Lee, A. S., De Lencastre, H., Garau, J., Kluytmans, J., Malhotra-Kumar, S., Peschel, A., & Harbarth, S. (2018). Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 4(1), 18033. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2018.33
- Lefebvre, J., Buffet-Bataillon, S., Henaux, P. L., Riffaud, L., Morandi, X., & Haegelen, C. (2017). Staphylococcus aureus screening and decolonization reduces the risk of surgical site infections in patients undergoing deep brain stimulation surgery. *Journal* of Hospital Infection, 95(2), 144–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2016.11.019

- Lerminiaux, N. A., & Cameron, A. D. S. (2019). Horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in clinical environments. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 65(1), 34–44. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-2018-0275
- Li, Shipeng, Sun, J., Zhang, J., Li, X., Tao, X., Wang, L., Sun, M., Liu, Y., Li, J., Qiao, Y., Yu, S., Yao, K., Yang, Y., & Shen, X. (2014). Comparative analysis of the virulence characteristics of epidemic methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) strains isolated from Chinese children: ST59 MRSA highly expresses core gene-encoded toxin. *Apmis*, 122(2), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.12105
- Li, Shuguang, Guo, Y., Zhao, C., Chen, H., Hu, B., Chu, Y., Zhang, Z., Hu, Y., Liu, Z., Du, Y., Gui, Q., Ji, P., Zeng, J., Cao, B., Fu, Q., Zhang, R., Wang, Z., Zhuo, C., Feng, X., ... Wang, H. (2016). In vitro activities of tedizolid compared with other antibiotics against Gram-positive pathogens associated with hospital-acquired pneumonia,skin and soft tissue infection and bloodstream infection collected from 26 hospitals in China. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 65(10), 1215–1224. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.000347
- Li, X., Huang, T., Xu, K., Li, C., & Li, Y. (2019). Molecular characteristics and virulence gene profiles of Staphylococcus aureus isolates in Hainan, China. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 19(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4547-5
- Licitra, G. (2013). [Staff"ə-Lo Kok'əs]. *Emerging Infectious Diseases: Etymologia*, 19(9), 1553.
- Lin, J., Wu, C., Yan, C., Ou, Q., Lin, D., Zhou, J., Ye, X., & Yao, Z. (2018). A prospective cohort study of Staphylococcus aureus and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus carriage in neonates: The role of maternal carriage and phenotypic and molecular characteristics. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, 11, 555–565. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S157522
- Lindsay, J. A. (2013). Hospital-associated MRSA and antibiotic resistance-What have we learned from genomics? *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 303(6–7), 318–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2013.02.005

- Lindsay, J. A., & Holden, M. T. G. (2004). Staphylococcus aureus: Superbug, super genome? In *Trends in Microbiology* (Vol. 12, Issue 8, pp. 378–385). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2004.06.004
- Liu, B., Park, S., Thompson, C. D., Li, X., & Lee, J. C. (2017). Antibodies to Staphylococcus aureus capsular polysaccharides 5 and 8 perform similarly in vitro but are functionally distinct in vivo. *Virulence*, 8(6), 859–874. https://doi.org/10.1080/21505594.2016.1270494
- Liu, Q., Yeo, W. S., & Bae, T. (2016). The SaeRS two-component system of Staphylococcus aureus. *Genes*, 7(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes7100081
- Lowy, F. D. (2003). Antimicrobial resistance: the example of Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *111*(9), 1265–1273. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI18535
- Lucet, J. C., Paoletti, X., Demontpion, C., Degrave, M., Vanjak, D., Vincent, C., Andremont, A., Jarlier, V., Mentré, F., & Nicolas-Chanoine, M. H. (2009). Carriage of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in home care settings: Prevalence, duration, and transmission to household members. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 169(15), 1372–1378. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2009.217
- Lupia, T., Scabini, S., Mornese Pinna, S., Di Perri, G., De Rosa, F. G., & Corcione, S. (2020). 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) outbreak: A new challenge. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance*, 21, 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2020.02.021
- MacMorran, E., Harch, S., Athan, E., Lane, S., Tong, S., Crawford, L., Krishnaswamy, S., & Hewagama, S. (2017). The rise of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus: Now the dominant cause of skin and soft tissue infection in Central Australia. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 145(13), 2817–2826. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268817001716
- Mallet, C., Caseris, M., Doit, C., Simon, A. L., Michelet, D., Madre, C., Mazda, K., Bonacorsi, S., & Ilharreborde, B. (2018). Does Staphylococcus aureus nasal decontamination affect the rate of early surgical site infection in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis surgery? *European Spine Journal*, 27(10), 2543–2549.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-018-5744-4

- Mao, P., Peng, P., Liu, Z., Xu, Z., & Yao, C. (2019). Risk factors and clinical outcomes of hospital-acquired MRSA infections in Chongqing, China. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, 12, 3709–3717. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S223536
- Mariutti, R. B., Tartaglia, N. R., Seyffert, N., Castro, T. L. de P., Arni, R. K., Azevedo, V. A., Le Loir, Y., & Nishifuji, K. (2017). Exfoliative Toxins of Staphylococcus aureus. In *The Rise of Virulence and Antibiotic Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus* (Vol. 2, Issue 5, pp. 1148–1165). InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/66528
- Masters, I. B., Isles, A. F., & Grimwood, K. (2017). Necrotizing pneumonia: an emerging problem in children? *Pneumonia*, 9(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41479-017-0035-0
- Matuszewska, M., Murray, G. G. R., Harrison, E. M., Holmes, M. A., & Weinert, L. A. (2020). The Evolutionary Genomics of Host Specificity in Staphylococcus aureus. *Trends in Microbiology*, 28(6), 465–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2019.12.007
- McMullan, B. J., Bowen, A., Blyth, C. C., Van Hal, S., Korman, T. M., Buttery, J., Voss, L., Roberts, S., Cooper, C., Tong, S. Y. C., & Turnidge, J. (2016). Epidemiology and mortality of staphylococcus aureus Bacteremia in Australian and New Zealand children. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *170*(10), 979–986. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.1477
- Mehraj, J., Witte, W., Akmatov, M. K., Layer, F., Werner, G., & Krause, G. (2016).
  Epidemiology of Staphylococcus aureus Nasal Carriage Patterns in the Community.
  In Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education (Vol. 37, Issue October, pp. 55– 87). https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2016\_497
- Memariani, M., Memariani, H., Shahidi-Dadras, M., Tehranchinia, Z., Ghalamkarpour, F., & Moravvej, H. (2020). Contemporary systematic review and meta-analysis of exfoliative toxin-producing Staphylococcus aureus strains isolated from patients in Iran. *Reviews in Medical Microbiology*, 31(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/MRM.00000000000177

- Mulcahy, M. E., & McLoughlin, R. M. (2016). Host–Bacterial Crosstalk Determines Staphylococcus aureus Nasal Colonization. *Trends in Microbiology*, 24(11), 872– 886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.06.012
- Munita, J. M., Arias, C. A., Unit, A. R., & Santiago, A. De. (2016). HHS Public Access Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. *HHS Public Access*, 4(2), 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0016-2015.Mechanisms
- Murtey, M. Das, & Ramasamy, P. (2016). Sample Preparations for Scanning Electron Microscopy – Life Sciences. In Modern Electron Microscopy in Physical and Life Sciences. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/61720
- Mutters, N. T., Bieber, C. P., Hauck, C., Reiner, G., Malek, V., & Frank, U. (2016). Comparison of livestock-associated and health care–associated MRSA—genes, virulence, and resistance. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 86(4), 417–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2016.08.016
- Nanra, J. S., Buitrago, S. M., Crawford, S., Ng, J., Fink, P. S., Hawkins, J., Scully, I. L., McNeil, L. K., Aste-Am Éaga, J., Cooper, D., Jansen, K. U., & Anderson, A. S. (2013). Capsular polysaccharides are an important immune evasion mechanism for Staphylococcus aureus. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, 9(3), 480–487. https://doi.org/10.4161/hv.23223
- Nawrotek, P., Karakulska, J., & Fijalkowski, K. (2018). The Staphylococcal Panton-Valentine Leukocidin (PVL). In *Pet-to-Man Travelling Staphylococci: A World in Progress*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813547-1.00009-1
- Nouwen, J. L., Ott, A., Kluytmans-Vandenbergh, M. F. Q., Boelens, H. A. M., Hofman, A., Van Belkum, A., & Verbrugh, H. A. (2004). Predicting the Staphylococcus aureus nasal carrier state: Derivation and validation of a "culture rule." *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 39(6), 806–811. https://doi.org/10.1086/423376
- Nurjadi, D., Fleck, R., Lindner, A., Schäfer, J., Gertler, M., Mueller, A., Lagler, H., Van Genderen, P. J. J., Caumes, E., Boutin, S., Kuenzli, E., Gascon, J., Kantele, A., Grobusch, M. P., Heeg, K., Zanger, P., Goorhuis, A., Calvo-Cano, A., Hatz, C., ... Stich, A. (2019). Import of community-associated, methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus to Europe through skin and soft-tissue infection in

intercontinental travellers, 2011–2016. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 25(6), 739–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2018.09.023

- Ogawara, H. (2016). Self-resistance in streptomyces, with special reference to β-lactam antibiotics. *Molecules*, 21(5), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21050605
- Olaniyi, R., Pozzi, C., Grimaldi, L., & Bagnoli, F. (2016). Staphylococcus aureus-Associated Skin and Soft Tissue Infections: Anatomical Localization, Epidemiology, Therapy and Potential Prophylaxis. In Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education (Vol. 37, Issue October, pp. 199–227). https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2016\_32
- Oliveira, D., Borges, A., & Simões, M. (2018). Staphylococcus aureus Toxins and Their Molecular Activity in Infectious Diseases. *Toxins*, 10(6), 252. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins10060252
- Ondusko, D. S., & Nolt, D. (2018). Staphylococcus aureus. *Pediatrics in Review*, *39*(6), 287–298. https://doi.org/10.1542/pir.2017-0224
- Pal, S., Sayana, A., Joshi, A., & Juyal, D. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus: A predominant cause of surgical site infections in a rural healthcare setup of Uttarakhand. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 8(11), 3600. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc\_521\_19
- Parhizgari, N., Khoramrooz, S. S., Malek Hosseini, S. A. A., Marashifard, M., Yazdanpanah, M., Emaneini, M., Gharibpour, F., Mirzaii, M., Darban-Sarokhalil, D., Moein, M., & Naraki, M. (2016). High frequency of multidrug-resistant Staphylococcus aureus with SCCmec type III and Spa types t037 and t631 isolated from burn patients in southwest of Iran. *Apmis*, *124*(3), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.12493
- Peterson, E., & Kaur, P. (2018). Antibiotic resistance mechanisms in bacteria: Relationships between resistance determinants of antibiotic producers, environmental bacteria, and clinical pathogens. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9(NOV), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02928

- Pimentel de Araujo, F., Tinelli, M., Battisti, A., Ercoli, A., Anesi, A., Pantosti, A., & Monaco, M. (2018). An outbreak of skin infections in neonates due to a Staphylococcus aureus strain producing the exfoliative toxin A. *Infection*, 46(1), 49– 54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s15010-017-1084-2
- Popov, L. M., Marceau, C. D., Starkl, P. M., Lumb, J. H., Shah, J., Guerrera, D., Cooper, R. L., Merakou, C., Bouley, D. M., Meng, W., Kiyonari, H., Takeichi, M., Galli, S. J., Bagnoli, F., Citi, S., Carette, J. E., & Amieva, M. R. (2015). The adherens junctions control susceptibility to Staphylococcus aureus α-toxin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(46), 14337–14342. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1510265112
- Powers, M. E., Becker, R. E. N., Sailer, A., Turner, J. R., & Bubeck Wardenburg, J. (2015). Synergistic Action of Staphylococcus aureus α-Toxin on Platelets and Myeloid Lineage Cells Contributes to Lethal Sepsis. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 17(6), 775–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.05.011
- Putra, I., Rabiee, B., Anwar, K. N., Gidfar, S., Shen, X., Babalooee, M., Ghassemi, M., Afsharkhamseh, N., Bakhsh, S., Missiakas, D., Nezamabadi, A., Milani, B., Eslani, M., & Djalilian, A. R. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus alpha-hemolysin impairs corneal epithelial wound healing and promotes intracellular bacterial invasion. *Experimental Eye Research*, 181(3), 263–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2019.02.019
- Rahimi, F., & Shokoohizadeh, L. (2016). Characterization of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains among inpatients and outpatients in a referral hospital in Tehran, Iran. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 97, 89–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2016.06.006
- Rebić, V., Budimir, A., Aljicević, M., Vranić, S. M., & Rebić, D. (2019). Panton-valentine leukocidin and staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec characterization of community acquired methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus. *Central European Journal of Public Health*, 27(1), 58–63. https://doi.org/10.21101/cejph.a4979

- Ricciardi, B. F., Muthukrishnan, G., Masters, E., Ninomiya, M., Lee, C. C., & Schwarz,
  E. M. (2018). Staphylococcus aureus Evasion of Host Immunity in the Setting of
  Prosthetic Joint Infection: Biofilm and Beyond. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine*, 11(3), 389–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-018-9501-4
- Romaniszyn, D., Rózańska, A., Wójkowska-Mach, J., Chmielarczyk, A., Pobiega, M., Adamski, P., Helwich, E., Lauterbach, R., Borszewska-Kornacka, M., Gulczyńska, E., Kordek, A., & Bulanda, M. (2015). Epidemiology, antibiotic consumption and molecular characterisation of Staphylococcus aureus infections data from the Polish neonatology surveillance network, 2009-2012. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *15*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-015-0890-3
- Sakr, A., Brégeon, F., Mège, J. L., Rolain, J. M., & Blin, O. (2018). Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization: An update on mechanisms, epidemiology, risk factors, and subsequent infections. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9(OCT), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02419
- Salas, M., Wernecki, M., Fernández, L., Iglesias, B., Gutiérrez, D., Álvarez, A., García, L., Prieto, E., García, P., & Rodríguez, A. (2020). Characterization of clinical MRSA isolates from Northern Spain and assessment of their susceptibility to phage-derived antimicrobials. *Antibiotics*, 9(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9080447
- Sato, A., Nakamura, I., Fujita, H., Tsukimori, A., Kobayashi, T., Fukushima, S., Fujii, T., & Matsumoto, T. (2017). Peripheral venous catheter-related bloodstream infection is associated with severe complications and potential death: a retrospective observational study. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 17(1), 434. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2536-0
- Schwendener, S., Cotting, K., & Perreten, V. (2017). Novel methicillin resistance gene mecD in clinical Macrococcus caseolyticus strains from bovine and canine sources. *Scientific Reports*, 7(November 2016), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep43797
- Seilie, E. S., & Bubeck Wardenburg, J. (2017). Staphylococcus aureus pore-forming toxins: The interface of pathogen and host complexity. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 72(1), 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.04.003

- Senn, L., Clerc, O., Zanetti, G., Basset, P., Prod'hom, G., Gordon, N. C., Sheppard, A. E., Crook, D. W., James, R., Thorpe, H. A., Feil, E. J., & Blanc, D. S. (2016). The stealthy superbug: The role of asymptomatic enteric carriage in maintaining a longterm hospital outbreak of ST228 methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *MBio*, 7(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02039-15
- Septimus, E. J., & Schweizer, M. L. (2016). Decolonization in prevention of health careassociated infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 29(2), 201–221. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00049-15
- Shah, J., Rouaud, F., Guerrera, D., Vasileva, E., Popov, L. M., Kelley, W. L., Rubinstein, E., Carette, J. E., Amieva, M. R., & Citi, S. (2018). A Dock-and-Lock Mechanism Clusters ADAM10 at Cell-Cell Junctions to Promote α-Toxin Cytotoxicity. *Cell Reports*, 25(8), 2132-2147.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.10.088
- Shalaby, M. A. W., Dokla, E. M. E., Serya, R. A. T., & Abouzid, K. A. M. (2020). Penicillin binding protein 2a: An overview and a medicinal chemistry perspective. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 199, 112312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112312
- Sharma-Kuinkel, B. K., Wu, Y., Tabor, D. E., Mok, H., Sellman, B. R., Jenkins, A., Yu, L., Jafri, H. S., Rude, T. H., Ruffin, F., Schell, W. A., Park, L. P., Yan, Q., Thaden, J. T., Messina, J. A., Fowler, V. G., & Esser, M. T. (2015). Characterization of alphatoxin hla gene variants, alpha-toxin expression levels, and levels of antibody to alpha-toxin in hemodialysis and postsurgical patients with staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 53(1), 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02023-14
- Shekarabi, M., Hajikhani, B., Salimi Chirani, A., Fazeli, M., & Goudarzi, M. (2017). Molecular characterization of vancomycin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains isolated from clinical samples: A three year study in Tehran, Iran. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(8), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183607

- Shettigar, K., & Murali, T. S. (2020). Virulence factors and clonal diversity of Staphylococcus aureus in colonization and wound infection with emphasis on diabetic foot infection. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 39(12), 2235–2246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-020-03984-8
- Singla, A., Qureshi, R., Chen, D. Q., Nourbakhsh, A., Hassanzadeh, H., Shimer, A. L., & Shen, F. H. (2019). Risk of Surgical Site Infection and Mortality Following Lumbar Fusion Surgery in Patients with Chronic Steroid Usage and Chronic Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Infection. *Spine*, 44(7), E408–E413. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000002864
- Sollid, J. U. E., Furberg, A. S., Hanssen, A. M., & Johannessen, M. (2014). Staphylococcus aureus: Determinants of human carriage. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 21, 531–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2013.03.020
- Staiman, A., Hsu, D. Y., & Silverberg, J. I. (2018). Epidemiology of staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome in U.S. children. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 178(3), 704–708. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.16097
- Surewaard, B. G. J., Thanabalasuriar, A., Zeng, Z., Tkaczyk, C., Cohen, T. S., Bardoel,
  B. W., Jorch, S. K., Deppermann, C., Bubeck Wardenburg, J., Davis, R. P., Jenne,
  C. N., Stover, K. C., Sellman, B. R., & Kubes, P. (2018). α-Toxin Induces Platelet
  Aggregation and Liver Injury during Staphylococcus aureus Sepsis. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 24(2), 271-284.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2018.06.017
- Suryadevara, M., Clark, A. E., Wolk, D. M., Carman, A., Rosenbaum, P. F., & Shaw, J. (2013). Molecular characterization of invasive Staphylococcus aureus infection in central New York children: Importance of two clonal groups and inconsistent presence of selected virulence determinants. *Journal of the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society*, 2(1), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpids/pis087
- Tabor, D. E., Yu, L., Mok, H., Tkaczyk, C., Sellman, B. R., Wu, Y., Oganesyan, V., Slidel,
  T., Jafri, H., McCarthy, M., Bradford, P., & Esser, M. T. (2016). Staphylococcus aureus alpha-toxin is conserved among diverse hospital respiratory isolates collected from a global surveillance study and is neutralized by monoclonal antibody MEDI4893. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 60(9), 5312–5321.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00357-16

- Takigawa, Y., Fujiwara, K., Saito, T., Nakasuka, T., Ozeki, T., Okawa, S., Takada, K., Iwamoto, Y., Kayatani, H., Minami, D., Sato, K., Nagao, M., & Shibayama, T. (2019). Rapidly progressive multiple cavity formation in necrotizing pneumonia caused by community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus positive for the panton-valentine leucocidin gene. *Internal Medicine*, 58(5), 685–691. https://doi.org/10.2169/internalmedicine.1454-18
- Tam, K., & Torres, V. J. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus Secreted Toxins and Extracellular
   Enzymes. *Microbiology Spectrum*, 7(2).
   https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.gpp3-0039-2018
- Thai, S. N., Vu, H. T. T., Vu, L. T. K., Do, N. T. Q., Tran, A. T. H., Tang, N. T., Le, H. N. M., & Tran, B. Q. (2019). First Report on Multidrug-Resistant Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Isolates in Children Admitted to Tertiary Hospitals in Vietnam. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 29(9), 1460–1469. https://doi.org/10.4014/jmb.1904.04052
- Thampi, N., Showler, A., Burry, L., Bai, A. D., Steinberg, M., Ricciuto, D. R., Bell, C. M., & Morris, A. M. (2015). Multicenter study of health care cost of patients admitted to hospital with Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia: Impact of length of stay and intensity of care. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 43(7), 739–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2015.01.031
- Tong, S. Y. C., Davis, J. S., Eichenberger, E., Holland, T. L., & Fowler, V. G. (2015). Staphylococcus aureus Infections: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, Clinical Manifestations, and Management. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 28(3), 603–661. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00134-14
- Valderrama-Beltrán, S., Gualtero, S., Álvarez-Moreno, C., Gil, F., Ruiz, A. J., Rodríguez, J. Y., Osorio, J., Tenorio, I., Gómez Quintero, C., Mackenzie, S., Caro, M. A., Zhong, A., Arias, G., Berrio, I., Martinez, E., Cortés, G., De la Hoz, A., & Arias, C. A. (2019). Risk factors associated with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus skin and soft tissue infections in hospitalized patients in Colombia. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 87, 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2019.07.007

- van Belkum, A. (2016). Hidden Staphylococcus aureus Carriage: Overrated or Underappreciated? *MBio*, 7(1), 4–6. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00079-16
- van Dalen, R., Peschel, A., & van Sorge, N. M. (2020). Wall Teichoic Acid in Staphylococcus aureus Host Interaction. *Trends in Microbiology*, 28(12), 985–998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2020.05.017
- Vestergaard, M., Frees, D., & Ingmer, H. (2019). Antibiotic Resistance and the MRSA Problem. *Gram-Positive Pathogens*, 747–765. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781683670131.ch47
- von Hoven, G., Qin, Q., Neukirch, C., Husmann, M., & Hellmann, N. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus α-toxin: small pore, large consequences. *Biological Chemistry*, 400(10), 1261–1276. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2018-0472
- Von Hoven, G., Rivas, A. J., Neukirch, C., Klein, S., Hamm, C., Qin, Q., Meyenburg, M., Fuser, S., Saftig, P., Hellmann, N., Postina, R., & Husmann, M. (2016). Dissecting the role of ADAM10 as a mediator of Staphylococcus aureus α-toxin action. *Biochemical Journal*, 473(13), 1929–1940. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160062
- Wang, M., Wei, H., Zhao, Y., Shang, L., Di, L., Lyu, C., & Liu, J. (2019). Analysis of multidrug-resistant bacteria in 3223 patients with hospital-acquired infections (HAI) from a tertiary general hospital in China. *Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*, 19(1), 86–93. https://doi.org/10.17305/BJBMS.2018.3826
- Wang, X., Li, X., Liu, W., Huang, W., Fu, Q., & Li, M. (2016). Molecular characteristic and virulence gene profiles of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates from pediatric patients in Shanghai, China. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(NOV). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01818
- Wang, X., Shen, Y., Huang, W., & Zhou, Y. (2019). Characterisation of communityacquired Staphylococcus aureus causing skin and soft tissue infections in a children's hospital in Shanghai, China. *Epidemiology and Infection*. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268819002127
- Watts, A., Ke, D., Wang, Q., Pillay, A., Nicholson-Weller, A., & Lee, J. C. (2005). Staphylococcus aureus strains that express serotype 5 or serotype 8 capsular polysaccharides differ in virulence. *Infection and Immunity*, 73(6), 3502–3511.

https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.6.3502-3511.2005

- Wilke, G. A., & Wardenburg, J. B. (2010). Role of a disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 in Staphylococcus aureus α-hemolysin - Mediated cellular injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(30), 13473– 13478. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1001815107
- Winter, S. V., Zychlinsky, A., & Bardoel, B. W. (2016). Genome-wide CRISPR screen reveals novel host factors required for Staphylococcus aureus α-hemolysin-mediated toxicity. *Scientific Reports*, 6(March), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24242
- Xia, G., Kohler, T., & Peschel, A. (2010). The wall teichoic acid and lipoteichoic acid polymers of Staphylococcus aureus. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 300(2–3), 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2009.10.001
- Xie, X., Bao, Y., Ouyang, N., Dai, X., Pan, K., Chen, B., Deng, Y., Wu, X., Xu, F., Li, H., & Huang, S. (2016). Molecular epidemiology and characteristic of virulence gene of community-acquired and hospital-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates in Sun Yat-sen Memorial hospital, Guangzhou, Southern China. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 16(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-016-1684-y
- Xie, X., Dai, X., Ni, L., Chen, B., Luo, Z., Yao, Y., Wu, X., Li, H., & Huang, S. (2018). Molecular epidemiology and virulence characteristics of Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization in medical laboratory staff: Comparison between microbiological and non-microbiological laboratories. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 18(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3024-x
- Zarfel, G., Luxner, J., Folli, B., Leitner, E., Feierl, G., Kittinger, C., & Grisold, A. (2016). Increase of genetic diversity and clonal replacement of epidemic methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains in South-East Austria. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 363(14), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnw137